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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
　

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”, each a “Director”) of Enterprise Development Holdings 
Limited (the “Company”), I present herewith the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB17 million as compared to the consolidated net loss attributable to 
equity shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB82 million in the last corresponding year. The consolidated 
net loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 was mainly due to, 
including but not limited to, (i) the distribution expenses of approximately RMB19 million; (ii) the general and administrative 
expenses of approximately RMB17 million; (iii) the impairment on intangible assets of approximately RMB8 million; (iv) loss 
allowance on trade and other receivables of approximately RMB1 million; and net off by (v) change in fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately RMB4 million; and (vi) gross profit of approximately RMB18 
million. The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group’s software business continued to record a slowdown for the year ended 31 December 2020 was due to the 
outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”). The COVID-19 has brought a negative impact in overall market 
sentiment and the Group’s financial performance in the year 2020 was adversely affected. The COVID-19 has posed 
significant challenges to the Group’s business activities and has caused operational delays to some extent. The Group will 
try to maintain its competitiveness in 2021 through introduction of new products and services, further broadening of client 
base and implementation of various cost control policies.

Chinese economy will keep a good momentum of steady growth despite there are still many uncertainties in China’s 
internal and external economic and market environment in forthcoming year. In order to maintain the Group’s 
sustainability and preservation of value over the long term, the Group will continue to look for suitable business 
opportunities so as to diversify the Group’s business into a new line of business with growth potential and to broaden its 
source of income that can enhance return to the shareholders of the Company. In particular, the Group will continue to 
explore potential integration opportunities for the Group’s existing IT services with financial service sector. The Group will 
put the best effort on the growth opportunities in the financial services industry and believes that a successful integration 
of the Group’s IT services with the financial service sector could create further income sources and long-term benefits to 
the Group.

Taking this opportunity, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and business partners for their 
invaluable support to the Group. I am also grateful for our Directors, senior management and staff for their dedicated 
service and contributions.

Guan Huanfei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
　

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guan Huanfei (“Mr. Guan”), aged 63, was appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board 
on 2 June 2020. He is also a member of each of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 
Committee”) and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”). Mr. Guan obtained a Doctor 
degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan University and was a postdoctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics with 
Fudan University from 2000 to 2002. He has been a part-time researcher of the Insurance Research Centre of Fudan 
University since 2004. Mr. Guan has been appointed as a part-time lecturer of professional degree of Fudan University 
since 2013. Mr. Guan has been appointed as a visiting professor of Jilin University of Finance and Economics since 
August 2019. Mr. Guan has been an economic and technical consultant of People’s Government of Jilin Province 
for years. He has extensive experience in finance and insurance industry in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of 
China. Mr. Guan held various senior managerial positions in the People’s Insurance Company of China (Jilin Branch), 
the business department of Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China Insurance Group, China Taiping Insurance 
(HK) Company Limited and China Pacific Insurance Co., (H.K.) Limited. Mr. Guan also held offices at the Bank of 
Communications, including the deputy chairman of the risk asset management committee, the deputy chairman of credit 
asset management committee, the chairman of loan verification committee, the deputy general manager of the Bank 
of Communications Hong Kong Branch, a director of Bank of Communications Trustee Limited, the chairman and chief 
executive of China BOCOM Insurance Company Limited and an executive director and general manager of BoCommLife 
Insurance Company Limited.

Mr. Guan is currently an independent non-executive director of each of China Nonferrous Mining Corporation Limited 
(stock code: 1258), China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (stock code: 412), Huarong International Financial 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 993), Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 188), and Shanghai 
Zendai Property Limited (stock code: 755), all of the companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). During the period from December 2017 to June 2018, Mr. Guan served 
as a non-executive director of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 231). Mr. Guan was the chairman emeritus of Culturecom Holdings Limited (a company 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 343) and the chairman of the board of directors of UCAN.
COM Group Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings Limited from July 2013 to March 2016. Mr. Guan was 
an independent non-executive director of Solis Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, stock code: 2227) since August 2019 and resigned in September 2020. He was also an independent non-
executive director of China Wood International Holding Co., Limited (formerly known as HongDa Financial Holding 
Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1822) during the period from June 
2018 to May 2020.

Ms. Mao Junjie (“Ms. Mao”), aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director on 31 December 2020. Ms. Mao 
worked at 北京東方龍馬軟件發展有限公司 (Beijing Oriental LegendMaker Software Development Company Limited*), a 
subsidiary of the Company, from October 2012 to March 2017, and her last position was a public relation manager. Ms. 
Mao was a director of Forefront International (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Rentian Technology Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (a company listed 
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 885) (the controlling shareholder (as defined under the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of the Company which was ordered to be 
wound up by the High Court of Hong Kong on 21 October 2020), between the period from May 2019 until her resignation 
in December 2019. Ms. Mao confirmed that she is not a party of such winding up proceedings and is not aware of any 
actual or potential claim that has been or will be made against her as a result of the above. Ms. Mao has 15 years of 
experience in financial management, information system management, accounting projects, and various mergers and 
acquisitions activities. Ms. Mao obtained a bachelor’s degree from The Central Academy of Drama in July 2006.

*　For identification purposes only
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cai Jinliang (“Mr. Cai”), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 24 August 2020. 
Mr. Cai is also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), and a member of each of 
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Cai was graduated from Gannan Normal University 
in July 1989, majoring in Mathematics and obtained a Master degree of Business Administration and a Postgraduate 
Degree from Northwest Polytechnical University in September 2006. Mr. Cai has been a certified public accountant in 
China since August 2008 and has more than 12 years of practicing experience and obtained the qualification of a certified 
internal auditor, certification in control self-assessment and an independent director in the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. 
Cai joined Wuyige Certified Public Accountants LLP in October 2012 and has been a partner and department manager 
since April 2018. Mr. Cai had been a senior project manager and a manager in RSM China LLP (now known as Ruihua 
Certified Public Accountants) during the period from 2006 to September 2012. Mr. Cai has been an independent director 
and the convener of the board of directors, the audit committee of Fujian Start Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600734) since September 2018. Mr. Cai had conducted the audit work on the 
annual reports of Jingwei Textile Machinery Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 
666), Shandong Xinneng Taishan Power Generation Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock 
code: 720), Xinyangfeng Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock 
code: 902), Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. (a company listed on both the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 601618 and 01618), China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd., Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd 
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange; stock code: 2939) and Yintai Securities Co., Ltd., and has extensive 
experience in auditing annual report, significant assets restructuration and special audit on state-owned enterprises 
and listed companies. Mr. Cai performed internal audits according to corporate internal control standards of Datang 
International Power Generation Co., Ltd. (a company listed on both the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange, stock code: 601991 and 991) and Angang Steel Company Limited (a company listed on both the Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 898 and 347), provided consultation services on the 
establishment of internal control system of Xinjiang Bayi Iron & Steel Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 600581) and has extensive experience in internal audit, evaluation and system construction 
consulting services.

Mr. Hui Yat On (“Mr. Hui”), aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 11 January 2021. 
Mr. Hui is also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Hui graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with 
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in December 1982. In November 2004, Mr. Hui obtained a master’s 
degree in professional accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Hui has become a member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since December 1986. Mr. Hui is a member of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow 
Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Hui has been an independent non-executive director of ArtGo Holdings Limited (a company 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3313) since 8 June 2016. Mr. Hui is currently a senior 
executive of a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He has previously served as the executive director 
and senior executive of several Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Hui has three decades of experiences in the field of 
corporate finance and financial services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
　

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB70,839,000 (2019: 
RMB101,628,000), of which revenue mainly comprised (i) software maintenance and other services amounted to 
approximately RMB43,442,000 (2019: RMB93,547,000); (ii) sale of software license and other products amounted to 
approximately RMB27,088,000 (2019: RMB8,062,000); and (iii) revenue from other sources amounted to approximately 
RMB309,000 (2019: RMB19,000). The decrease in overall revenue for the software business was due to the outbreak 
of COVID-19. The COVID-19 has brought a negative impact in overall market sentiment and the Group’s financial 
performance in the year 2020 was adversely affected. The COVID-19 has posed significant challenges to the Group’s 
business activities and has caused operational delays to some extent.

Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB17,578,000 (2019: 
RMB23,325,000). The gross profit ratio for the software business of the Group during the year was approximately 25% 
while that of the last corresponding year was approximately 23%. The increase in gross profit ratio was mainly due to the 
increase in proportion for sale of self-developed products which have higher gross profit margin.

Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, distribution expenses were approximately RMB19,486,000 (2019: 
RMB22,837,000). The decrease in distribution expenses was mainly due to the decrease in staff costs of the software 
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) during the year.

General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, general and administrative expenses were approximately RMB17,305,000 (2019: 
RMB21,867,000). The decrease in general and administrative expense was mainly attributable to the decrease in legal 
and professional fee.

Impairment on Prepayment Made to Suppliers, Intangible Assets and Goodwill

For the year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment on intangible assets of approximately RMB8,215,000 (2019: 
total impairment on prepayment made to suppliers, intangible assets and goodwill approximately RMB59,137,000) were 
contributed by the software business. The software business has been adversely affected by the business environment in 
the PRC and was projected to generate lower revenue and profit than expected.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2020, finance costs were approximately RMB1,223,000 (2019: RMB1,655,000). The 
decrease in finance costs was mainly due to the decrease in the interest on short-term interest-bearing borrowings during 
the year.
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Change in Fair Value of Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The Group invested in a financial instrument for short-term investments, included the equity securities listed in Hong 
Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2020, a change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
of approximately RMB3,696,000 was recognised in profit or loss (2019: Nil).

Loss for the Year

As a result, the Group recorded a loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 of approximately RMB25,322,000 (2019: 
RMB104,119,000).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s working capital is funded by the cash generated from operating and financing activities. As at 31 
December 2020, the Group maintained cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB99,922,000 (2019: 
RMB64,766,000). As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 5.86 times (2019: 3.79 times); 
and the Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31 December 2020 was not applicable (2019: not applicable), since the Group 
had cash in excess of interest-bearing borrowings.

Foreign Exchange

The Group’s revenue is mainly denominated in Renminbi and no related hedge is required for the time being.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had no pledge of assets in order to obtain general banking facilities or 
short-term bank borrowings.

Capital Structure

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the 
Group consists of debt, including borrowings, and equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, comprising 
issued share capital, share premium, accumulated losses and other reserves. The management of the Group reviews 
the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, 
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the 
redemption of existing debt. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

On 15 January 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement with the placing agent (the “Placing Agreement”), 
pursuant to which the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure on a best effort basis to not less than six placees, 
who are professional institutional or other investor independent of and not connected with the Company, the connected 
persons of the Company and their respective associates procured by or on behalf of the placing agent to subscribe for up 
to 105,301,796 new ordinary shares of the Company at par value of HK$0.10 each with nominal value of approximately 
HK$10,530,180 at the placing price of HK$0.249 per placing share (the “Placing”). The placing price of HK$0.249 per 
placing share represents a discount of approximately 18.89% to the closing price of HK$0.307 per share of the Company 
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 15 January 2020, being the date of the Placing Agreement. The reason of carry out 
the Placing was to strengthen the Group’s financial position and enlarge the shareholder base and the capital base of the 
Company.
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All conditions to the Placing Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of the Placing took place on 4 February 
2020. A total of 105,301,796 placing shares were successfully allotted and issued to not less than six placees at 
the price of HK$0.249 per share. The 105,301,796 placing shares represented approximately 16.67% of the issued 
share capital of Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares. The gross proceeds from the 
Placing were approximately RMB23,633,000 (equivalent to HK$26,220,000) and the net proceeds were approximately 
RMB22,905,000 (equivalent to HK$25,410,000 and a net placing price of approximately HK$0.243 per placing 
share) (after deduction of commission and other expenses of the placing). The net proceeds from the Placing were 
used as (i) approximately RMB1,352,000 (equivalent to HK$1,500,000) for repayment of interest-bearing borrowings; 
(ii) approximately RMB8,032,000 (equivalent to HK$8,910,000) for general working capital of the Group; and (iii) 
approximately RMB13,521,000 (equivalent to HK$15,000,000) as part of deposit payment for a development project 
during the year.

For the details of the Placing, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 15 January 2020 and 4 February 
2020 respectively.

On 17 November 2020, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of 126,362,155 shares at a subscription price 
of HK$0.168 per share to an independent third party for cash upon completion of the subscription pursuant to the 
subscription agreement dated 30 September 2020. The net proceeds of approximately RMB17,970,000 (equivalent to 
HK$21,128,000) received and approximately RMB4,678,000 (equivalent to HK$5,500,000) was used for loan financing 
business, approximately RMB1,276,000 (equivalent to HK$1,500,000) was used for general working of the Group; and 
the remaining proceeds of approximately RMB12,016,000 (equivalent to HK$14,128,000) will be used for general working 
capital, for improvement of the Company’s professional technical services capabilities to facilitate the long term business 
development of the Group, and further investments of the Group as and when the opportunities arise. The closing market 
price of the Company’s shares as at the issue date was HK$0.185 per share.

For the details of the subscription, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30 September 2020, 21 
October 2020 and 17 November 2020 respectively.

Events after the Reporting Period

On 19 February 2021, the Company proposed to raise up to approximately HK$47,407,000 before expenses, by way 
of the rights issue (the “Rights Issue”), by issuing up to 395,061,466 rights shares (the “Right Share(s)”) (assuming all 
outstanding Share Options are exercised in full on or before 24 March 2021 (the “Record Date”), but otherwise no other 
Shares are issued and no repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date and full subscription under the Rights 
Issue) at the subscription price of HK$0.12 per Rights Share on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every two (2) existing 
Shares held on the Record Date. The net proceeds from the Rights Issue after deducting the expenses, which will be 
borne by the Company, are estimated to be not more than approximately HK$46,200,000 (assuming all outstanding 
Share Options are exercised in full on or before the Record Date, but otherwise no other Shares are issued and no 
repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date and full subscription under the Rights Issue). Assuming the net 
proceeds from the Rights Issue will amount to approximately HK$46,200,000, the Company intends to apply such net 
proceeds as to approximately (i) 30% of net proceeds for the potential acquisitions, expansion and equipment purchase 
of the Group’s software business in the future; (ii) 40% of net proceeds for loan financing business and securities 
investments business; and (iii) the remaining 30% of net proceeds for the Group’s operating expenses and overheads, 
among which approximately 60% is for staff cost, approximately 4% is for rental payments, approximately 20% is for 
professional fees and the remaining 16% is for the general administrative expenses.
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On 19 February 2021, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with VC 
Brokerage Limited (the “Underwriter”) in relation to the underwriting and respective arrangements in respect of the Rights 
Issue. Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriter has conditionally agreed to underwrite, on a best effort 
basis, the underwritten shares up to 395,061,466 Rights Shares (the “Underwritten Shares”) (assuming all outstanding 
Share Options are exercised in full on or before the Record Date, but otherwise no other Shares are issued and no 
repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date), subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Underwriting 
Agreement, in particular the fulfilment of the conditions precedent contained therein.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant event which occurred after the year ended 31 December 2020 and up 
to the date of this report.

Significant Investment

The Group has not made any significant investment for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Acquisition and Disposal of Listed Securities

During the period from 4 March 2020 to 31 March 2020, the Company has acquired an aggregate of 26,340,000 shares 
of China Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation Limited (“China Nuclear”) (“China Nuclear Share(s)”) on the open market. 
The average price (exclusive of transaction costs) for each China Nuclear Share was approximately HK$0.389 and the 
total purchase price was approximately HK$10,255,000 (exclusive of transaction costs), which was the market price of 
the China Nuclear Shares paid in cash from the internal resources of the Company.

During the period from 27 November 2020 to 20 January 2021 (both dates inclusive), the Group disposed a total of 
16,276,000 China Nuclear Shares at the price between HK$0.3654 and HK$0.6653 per China Nuclear Share, on the 
open market for an aggregate cash consideration of approximately HK$8,309,000.

Others

On 21 October 2020, Rentian Technology Holdings Limited (“Rentian”) (stock code: 885), the controlling shareholder 
of the Company, was ordered to be wound up by the High Court of Hong Kong and an official receiver was appointed 
as the provisional liquidator of Rentian. Rentian was interested in 203,854,292 shares in the Company, equivalent to 
approximately 26.89% of the Company’s issued share capital as of the date thereof.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries

The Group has not made any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated companies for the year ended 
31 December 2020.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 108 (2019: 116) full time employees. The remuneration package of 
employees is determined by reference to their performance, experience, positions, duties and responsibilities in the 
Group and the prevailing market conditions. The Group continued to provide retirement, medical, employment injury, 
unemployment and maternity benefits which are governed by the state-managed social welfare scheme operated by the 
local government of the PRC to the employees in the PRC. In addition, the Group maintains mandatory provident fund 
schemes for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB70,839,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 
RMB101,628,000), representing a decrease of approximately 30%. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in 
revenue from the Group’s software business as compared to the year ended 31 December 2019.

The revenue of the software business amounted to approximately RMB70,530,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2020 (2019: RMB101,609,000), representing a decrease of approximately 31%. The decrease was mainly due to the 
acceleration of the migration from the traditional database to new generation non-structure database by the customers 
and keen competition in the market for the software industry that involved many large-scale, well-funded and experienced 
participants. In addition, the decrease was also due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in late 2019 and the ongoing epidemic 
which led to an overall erosion in market sentiment.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE BUSINESS STRATEGIES

We have an experienced technical team which can provide our clients with prompt and effective services and business 
solutions and we have established a solid client base over the years. Over the past ten years, the Group’s software 
business has provided database software and engineering services to the PRC enterprise customers in terms of life cycle 
management, health check, troubleshooting and function upgrade which has a significant market share and a strong 
brand effect in this area.

As impacted by the spreading of COVID-19, the economic conditions of Mainland China and the world slowed down 
sharply. Mainland China and many other countries implemented lockdowns and social distancing measures for protecting 
the society in response to the outbreak of COVID-19, which caused a plenitude of challenges and uncertainties in the 
global economic environment. To lower the negative impact from the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group’s management 
has closely monitored the market conditions in the PRC and has put in place certain contingency measures such as 
remote working of employees. However, the impact of COVID-19 on economic activities was far beyond expectation and 
resulted in a decrease of 30% in the consolidated revenue of the Group for 2020 as compared with the same period in 
2019. Despite the decrease in revenue, the Group is looking to improve its profit margin in the software maintenance 
services. Therefore, it is repositioning its products in terms of lowering the cost of sales.

In order to maintain the Group’s sustainability and value creation capability over the long term, the Group will try to 
maintain its competitiveness through introduction of new products and services, and will continue to look for suitable 
business opportunities so as to diversify the Group’s business into a new line of business with growth potential and to 
broaden its source of income that can enhance return to the shareholders of the Company.
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY AND KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
　

For the year ended 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Revenue 70,839 101,628 149,091 300,602 389,723
Cost of sales (53,261) (78,303) (124,958) (259,890) (383,408)
Gross profit 17,578 23,325 24,133 40,712 6,315
Loss for the year (25,322) (104,119) (39,055) (97,712) (305,284)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to  

non-controlling interests (8,489) (22,256) (14,054) 4,474 15,725
Loss for the year attributable to equity 

shareholders of the Company (16,833) (81,863) (25,001) (102,186) (321,009) 
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) (0.026) (0.155) (0.047) (0.198) (0.797) 

* Included the consolidated statement of profit or loss data from both continuing and discontinued operations
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATA

At 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 
Non-current assets 5,179 14,374 41,749 38,554 105,634
Current assets 185,346 173,665 260,623 319,380 367,592
Current liabilities (31,653) (45,875) (56,926) (68,354) (121,238)
Net current assets 153,693 127,790 203,697 251,026 246,354
Total assets less current liabilities 158,872 142,164 245,446 289,580 351,988
Non-current liability (771) (821) – – (49)
Net assets 158,101 141,343 245,446 289,580 351,939
Total equity attributable to equity 

shareholders of the Company 94,914 69,628 151,499 181,070 257,585
Non-controlling interests 63,187 71,715 93,947 108,510 94,354
Total equity 158,101 141,343 245,446 289,580 351,939 

At 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Profitability ratios
Return on shareholder’s equity* (Note 1) (16.91%) (53.84%) (14.60%) (30.46%) (69.74%)
Return on assets* (Note 2) (13.47%) (42.46%) (11.83%) (23.51%) (53.13%)
Liquidity ratios
Current ratio (Note 3) 585.56% 378.56% 457.83% 467.24% 303.20%
Receivables turnover days* (Note 4) 107.52 77.64 122.23 98.25 82.20
Inventory turnover days* (Note 5) 6.42 4.37 3.35 2.69 1.63
Payables turnover days* (Note 6) 72.93 59.36 26.64 34.44 41.96
Capital adequacy ratios
Net gearing ratio (Note 7) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

(Note 1)  (Loss)/profit for the year divided by average total equity and multiplied by 100%.

(Note 2)  (Loss)/profit for the year divided by average total assets and multiplied by 100%.

(Note 3)  Current assets divided by current liabilities and multiplied by 100%.

(Note 4)  Balance of average trade receivables and bills divided by revenue of the year and multiplied by 365 days.

(Note 5)  Average inventory balance divided by cost of sales of the year and multiplied by 365 days.

(Note 6)  Balance of average trade payables and bills divided by cost of sales of the year and multiplied by 365 days.

(Note 7)  Balance of total borrowings less cash, time deposits and pledged deposits divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

*　Included revenue, cost of sales and (loss)/profit for the year from both continuing and discontinued operations
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity, 
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 
to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company was 
in compliance with all the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviations from code provisions 
A.2.1, A.4.1, A.5.1 and D.1.4 of the CG Code, which are explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not 
be performed by the same individual. Following the retirement of Mr. Lam Kai Tai (“Mr. Lam”) as the chairman the Board 
(the “Chairman”) with effective from the conclusion of the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company held on 28 
May 2020 (“2020 AGM”), the role and functions of Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief 
Executive Officer”) have been performed by the executive Director. As it took time for the Company to identify a suitable 
candidate to perform the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman remained vacant until the 
appointment of Mr. Guan Huanfei as the Chairman on 2 June 2020. The Board will continually review its current structure 
and the need of appointment of a suitable person to perform the role of Chief Executive Officer.

Code provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-
election. The term of appointment of Ms. Hu Gin Ing (“Ms. Hu”), former independent non-executive Director who resigned 
on 17 June 2020, expired in year 2013 and thereafter she was not appointed for a specific term, but she was subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once in every three years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the 
“Articles”).

Code provision A.5.1 stipulated that the Company should establish a nomination committee which is chaired by the 
chairman of the board or an independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent non-executive 
directors. Following the resignation of Ms. Hu as a member of the Nomination Committee on 17 June 2020, the 
composition of the Nomination Committee was also not in compliance with the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code, 
until the Company appointed Mr. Cai as a member of the Nomination Committee on 24 August 2020.

Code provision D.1.4 requires that, the Company should have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the 
key terms and conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal letters of appointment for Mr. Lam, 
the former chairman of the Board and executive Director who retired with effect from the conclusion of the 2020 AGM, 
and Ms. Hu. However, they were subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years in accordance with 
the Articles. In addition, the Directors have followed the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the 
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent Non-Executive Directors” (if applicable) 
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the 
Company. Besides, the Directors actively comply with the requirements under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, 
legal and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as those mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has met all the relevant code provisions 
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. 
Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall 
strategy as well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved for its decision 
or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and 
interim results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital transactions 
and other significant operational and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and responsibility by 
the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the 
Board committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of four Directors including two executive Directors and two independent non-executive 
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman)
Ms. Mao Junjie

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cai Jinliang
Mr. Hui Yat On

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such 
balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of the 
Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership. The biographical information of the Directors is 
set out on pages 4 to 5 under the section headed “Biographies of Directors”.

The Company failed to meet the requirement set out in Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules that the Company must have at 
least three independent non-executive Directors following the resignation of Mr. Liu Jian as an independent non-executive 
Director on 25 March 2021.

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant.

All Directors had participated in continuous professional development and provided a record of training they received for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020 to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

Name of Director

Attending or 
participating in 

seminars/in-house 
briefing or reading 

materials relevant to 
the Group’s business/

director’s duties

Executive Directors
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman) ✓

Ms. Mao Junjie ✓

Mr. Bai Xuefei (resigned on 28 January 2021) N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cai Jinliang ✓

Mr. Liu Jian (resigned on 25 March 2021) ✓

Mr. Hui Yat On N/A

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Guan Huanfei is the chairman of the Board. After the resignation of former chief executive officer of the Company, the 
role and responsibility of chief executive officer of the Company have been performed by the existing management of the 
Group.

The Company is in the process of identifying a suitable candidate to assume the role as chief executive officer of the 
Company and further announcement in this regard will be made as and when appropriate.

Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre, with academic and professional qualifications 
in the fields of accounting and finance. With their experience gained from various sectors, they provide strong support 
towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each independent non-executive Director 
has given an annual confirmation of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers each of them is 
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cai Jinliang, an independent non-executive Director, was appointed for a term of three years from 24 August 2020. 
He is also subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

Mr. Liu Jian, a former independent non-executive Director resigned with effect from 25 March 2021, was appointed for 
a term of three years from with retrospective effect from 19 January 2020. He is also subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

Mr. Hui Yat On, an independent non-executive Director, was appointed for a term of three years from 11 January 2021. 
He is also subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 27 August 2013 (the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve 
diversity on the Board. The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment 
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity 
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into 
consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of 
the Board.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will 
discuss and review the necessity to set the measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to time.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings a year at approximately quarterly interval and additional meetings will be held as 
and when required. The four scheduled Board meetings for a year are planned in advance. During the regular meetings 
of the Board, the Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and reviewed and approved the annual and 
interim results. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held seven meetings. All Directors were given an 
opportunity to include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review 
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance. The relevant Directors’ 
attendance is shown on page 20.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is 
entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one general meeting of the Company was held, being the 2020 AGM. The 
relevant Directors’ attendance is shown on page 20.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general 
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their participation.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take into account the qualification, ability, working 
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates. The Company established the Nomination Committee 
with written terms of reference on 18 December 2006 and currently consists of one independent non-executive Director, 
namely Mr. Cai Jinliang, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Guan Huanfei.

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Jian as an independent non-executive Director and cessation as the chairman of the 
Nomination Committee with effect from 25 March 2021, the Company deviates with code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code 
that the nomination committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive director and comprise a majority of 
independent non-executive directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company. Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code provisions set out in the 
CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor the structure, size and diversity (including without 
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service) of the Board and made recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement 
the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify qualified individuals to become members of the Board; to assess the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; to review the Policy, and review the measurable objectives 
that the Board has set for implementing the Policy, and the progress on achieving the objective; and to make 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, 
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, there should be a formal, 
considered and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors, as well as plans 
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of such plans. The appointment 
of a new director (to be an additional director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of 
directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination 
Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time 
and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying 
out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as follows:

a. participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance, 
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conducts;

b. taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

c. serving on the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the Nomination Committee (in the case of 
candidate for non-executive director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

d. bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board, giving the Board and any committee on which 
he or she serves the benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity 
through attendance and participation in the Board/committee meetings;

e. scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the 
reporting of performance;
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f. ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their powers and functions conferred on them by 
the Board; and

g. conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or 
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where 
appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive director, his or her independence shall be 
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any 
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s 
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he or she has the appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the office of an independent 
non-executive director with such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee held two meetings for assessing the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; considering the re-election of Directors; reviewing the 
composition of the Board; and considering and making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of Directors. 
The relevant Directors’ attendance is shown on page 20.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference on 18 December 2006 and 
currently consists of one independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Cai Jinliang, and one executive Director, namely 
Mr. Guan Huanfei.

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Jian as an independent non-executive Director and cessation as the chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee with effect from 25 March 2021, the Company failed to meet the requirement set out in Rule 
3.25 of the Listing Rules that the remuneration committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive director 
and comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company. Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the code provisions set 
out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and 
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the establishment 
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings for reviewing the 
remuneration of Directors and senior management, reviewing the remuneration of the proposed Directors and the grant of 
share options. The relevant Directors’ attendance is shown on page 20.

The emoluments payable to Directors and senior management depend on their respective contractual terms under the 
employment agreements, if any, and is fixed by the Board with reference to the recommendation of the Remuneration 
Committee, the performance of the Group and the then prevailing market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the 
Directors and senior management are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference on 18 December 2006 and currently 
consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cai Jinliang (chairman) and Mr. Hui Yat On.

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Jian as an independent non-executive Director and cessation as a member of the 
Audit Committee with effect from 25 March 2021, the Audit Committee comprises only two independent non-executive 
Directors, Mr. Cai Jinliang (chairman) and Mr. Hui Yat On, which failed to meet the requirement under Rule 3.21 of the 
Listing Rules that the Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company. Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the interim and annual reports 
and consolidated financial statements of the Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system including 
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function 
and their training arrangement and budget, and reviewing the risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any area of concern during the audit. The Audit 
Committee reviews the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses not only 
on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards, 
the Listing Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held two meetings. Each committee meeting has been 
supplied with necessary financial information of the Group for members to consider, review and access significant issues 
arising from the work conducted. The relevant Directors’ attendance is shown on page 20.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual and interim results of the Group, 
which were in the opinion of the Audit Committee that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable 
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing internal control system of the Group and also noted that review of the same will 
be carried out on an annual basis.
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE RECORD

The following table summarises the attendance of the Directors and committee members in the respective Board, 
committee and general meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Meetings attended/held in 2020

Board
Audit 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

General 
Meeting

Number of meetings held during  
the year 7 2 2 3 1

Executive Directors
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
Ms. Mao Junjie (Note 2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Lam Kai Tai (Note 3) 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Bai Xuefei (Note 4) 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cai Jinliang (Note 5) 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A N/A
Ms. Hu Gin Ing (Note 6) 5/5 1/1 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Note 7) 7/7 2/2 2/2 3/3 1/1
Mr. Liu Jian (Note 8) 7/7 2/2 2/2 3/3 1/1

Notes:

1. Mr. Guan Huanfei was appointed on 2 June 2020, and 2 Board meetings and one Remuneration Committee meeting were held after his 

appointment.

2. Ms. Mao Junjie was appointed on 31 December 2020, and no Board meeting was held after her appointment.

3. Mr. Lam Kai Tai retired upon conclusion of the 2020 AGM, and 4 Board meetings, 1 Nomination Committee meeting, 1 Remuneration Committee 

meeting and 1 general meeting were held before his retirement.

4. Mr. Bai Xuefei resigned on 28 January 2021, and 7 Board meetings and 1 general meeting were held before his resignation.

5. Mr. Cai Jinliang was appointed on 24 August 2020, and 2 Board meetings and 1 Audit Committee meeting were held after his appointment.

6. Ms. Hu Gin Ing resigned on 17 June 2020, and 5 Board meetings, 1 Audit Committee meeting, 2 Nomination Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration 

Committee meetings and 1 general meeting were held before her resignation.

7. Mr. Li Wai Kwan resigned on 12 October 2020, and 7 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meetings, 3 

Remuneration Committee meetings and 1 general meeting were held before his resignation.

8. Mr. Liu Jian resigned on 25 March 2021, and 7 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meetings, 3 Remuneration 

Committee meetings and 1 general meeting were held before his resignation.



21Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During 2020, the fee paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Mazars CPA Limited, for providing audit services 
and non-audit services were approximately RMB625,000 and RMB267,000 respectively. Fees for non-audit services 
consist of review of disclosure of financial information in 2020 interim report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited 
(“Uni-1”), to provide compliance and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group 
to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative of Uni-1, was appointed as the named Company Secretary of 
the Company.

Ms. Mao Junjie, the executive Director, is the primary point of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and the 
Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by 
the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company according to the provisions as set out in 
the Articles and the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The procedures shareholders can use to 
convene an extraordinary general meeting are set out in the Articles, which is currently available on the website of the 
Stock Exchange and the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MEETING

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary 
general meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at general meeting.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by 
poll except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or 
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set out in the notice of the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be voted by poll.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its 
shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in the following manner:

• Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all shareholders;

• Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other 
announcements and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations under the 
Listing Rules; and

• The general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication channel between the Board and 
shareholders.

Ms. Hu Gin Ing, the former chairlady of the Audit Committee, and Mr. Liu Jian, the former chairman of each of the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, attended the 2020 AGM to answer questions of the meeting 
and collect views of Shareholders.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted the following Dividend Policy on 27 March 2020:

The amount of any dividends that the Company may declare and pay in the future will be subject to the discretion of the 
Board and will be based upon the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition, working capital requirements, 
capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position, future expansion plans, amount of retained earnings, distributable 
reserves and any other conditions that the Directors consider relevant. Any declaration and payment of dividends 
may also be limited by restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s constitutional 
documents, the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations. The amounts of dividend distributions that 
the Group has declared and made in the past are not indicative of the dividends that the Company may pay in the future.

The Directors may recommend a payment of dividends after taking into account the general economic conditions, 
business cycle of the Group’s business and any other internal and external factors that may affect the business and 
financial performance and position of the Group in addition to the above mentioned criteria. Any future declaration of 
dividends may or may not reflect the historical declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the 
Directors.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to 
update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy from time to time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a 
legally binding commitment by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s consolidated financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Company and of its financial 
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2020, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; made 
judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring an effective system of risk management and internal control be 
maintained and for reviewing its effectiveness to safeguard the Company’s assets and the Shareholders’ interests.

The Audit Committee has been established under the Board, which is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the risk 
management procedures and internal control system of the Group.

The purpose of the Company’s risk management process is to identify and manage risks in such a way that the 
Company is able to meet its strategic and financial targets. The Group formulated risk management procedures by 
taking into account adequately the five elements of this risk management framework: internal environmental control, risk 
management, control activities, information and communication and monitoring and improvement.

The Group aims to develop risk awareness and control responsibility as our culture and the foundation of our internal 
control system. The internal control system applies to the Group’s critical business processes including strategy 
development, business planning, investment decisions, capital allocation and day-to-day operations.

At beginning of each year, the Group conducts a risk assessment on the existing or potential risks that may impact the 
achievement of business objectives over the course of business operation. The assessment includes potential likelihood 
and impact of the identified risks. For the risks identified, the management determines the action plans and management 
targets in the expected time of completion according to the risk assessment result. The management is also responsible 
for managing their respective day-to-day operating risks, implementing measures to mitigate such risks.

The internal control system is designed and implemented to reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by 
the Group and minimise the adverse impact resulted from the risks. The risk management and internal control system 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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During the year, an external consulting firm has been engaged by the Group to advise on and review risk management 
and internal control of the Group and provide recommendations on improvement to the Audit Committee. No significant 
deficiency and weakness on the internal control system has been identified for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 
the Company agrees with the recommendation provided by the consulting firm and therefore will adopt the practice in the 
coming year.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2020, the risk management and internal control system and 
procedures of the Group, covering all material controls were reasonably effective and adequate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (“Report”) of the Group has made reference to the ESG 
Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (“HKEx Appendix 27 ESG Reporting Guide”), and compile the report content in accordance with the principles of 
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency.

The scope of this Report is based on the Group and its all business segment in Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, Chengdu 
and Guangzhou. There were no significant changes observed in the Group’s operating locations, the suppliers’ location 
and supply chain structure in the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (“Year” or “Reporting Period”).

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The statistics, figures and information cited in this Report are referenced from the archived questionnaires, records and 
research of the Group. This Report highlights the Group’s sustainability efforts in environmental and social aspects.

Reporting period: 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, the financial period of our Annual Report 2020. 

Organisations covered: The Group and its subsidiaries.

The reporting boundaries are determined by whether the subsidiaries are contributing to the operating business of the 
Group. In 2020, all subsidiaries and business entities of the Group are included in the ESG Report.

REFERENCE GUIDELINES

HKEx Appendix 27 ESG Reporting Guide

CONTACT

Should you have any enquiries or feedback on this Report, please feel free to contact us via the following methods:

• Address: Flat B, 11/F, Hing Lung Commercial Building, 68-74 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

• Tel: +852 3707 1901

• Fax: +852 3611 6041

• Official website: http://www.1808.com.hk/en/global/home.php

CORE VALUES/MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

As a listed company engaging in software business, the Group has the obligation to serve the society responsibly. The 
Group has started to integrate sustainable development during the business decision making process. Policies and 
guidelines are well-established internally to manage different aspects of ESG issues the Group’s facing during operation. 
Moreover, the current management structure ensures the common principles of ESG management are adhered across 
the Group.
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STAKEHOLDER IDENTIFICATION AND COMMUNICATION

To further improve the sustainable development strategy, the Group engages with the key stakeholders regularly to 
understand their concerns. During the past few years, the Group has maintained good relationship with the stakeholders 
which allows us to fully understand the risks and opportunities of our business. The following table sets forth the key 
methods for communicating with internal and external stakeholders of the Group:

Types of stakeholders Key issues Major communication method

In
te

rn
al

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s

Directors – Risk management

– Consultation via phone calls 
and emails

– Direct communication
– Company conferences
– Suggestion box

Employees
– Vocational training and development
– Salaries and benefits
– Health and safety

– Consultation via phone calls 
and emails

– Direct communication
– Company conferences
– Suggestion box

E
xt

er
na

l s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s

Shareholders/investors
– Stable return on investment
– Transparency of information disclosure

– Annual general meeting
– Consultation via phone calls 

and emails

Suppliers/customers

– Performance of contract
– Standardised supply chain management 

system and procurement process
– Establishment of complaint system

– Annual report
– Meetings

Distributors
– Well-established information exchange 

system
– Steady and stable supply of products

– After-sales opinion box
– Consultation via phone calls 

and emails
– Meetings

Government
– Business operation in compliance with 

relevant laws and regulations
– Annual report
– Meetings

Community/academic 
institutions

– Contributions to community 
development

– Annual report
– Community service
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Due to the business nature of the Group, the principal business of the Group does not have a great impact to the 
environment. However, the Group still keeps exploring any measures to further keep its environmental performance.

The major business of the Group did not have a material change during the Reporting Period. Vehicles and electricity 
remain the major of source of environmental impact from the Group. Minimal amount of waste was produced which are all 
non-hazardous. Nonetheless, the Group has paid great effort in reducing its environmental impact every year.

The Group strictly complies with the PRC and Hong Kong national laws and regulations, and duly implements 
environmental protection management policies of local governments at all levels, the Group’s system management 
document requirements, and actively fulfils the Group’s environmental protection social responsibility. For examples, the 
Environmental Protection Law, the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Regulation on Urban Drainage 
and Sewage Treatment laws in the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, no material changes have been made to the Group’s major business and the Group has 
complied with the latest environmental regulations.

1. Emissions

The Group strictly complies with all relevant national and local laws and regulations to control all types of emission 
from its business operation.

1.1. Gas Emission

The Group does not product significant amount of gaseous pollutants. Vehicular emission is the major gas 
mission from the Group. In 2020, the Hong Kong unit of the Group has acquired an automobile and therefore 
there was an increase in gas emission in 2020.

For greenhouse gases, the Group is trying to identify more measures and energy-saving initiatives to reduce 
its carbon footprint. The Group is well aware electricity consumption is the major source of its carbon 
footprint, and several energy-saving measures are being adopted in the office. The major measures are listed 
below:

• All departments to manage their power consumption of air-conditioners, and to monitor departmental 
staff to switch off all electrical equipment and production facilities during breaks and after work; and

• Set up ventilation and air-conditioning system and maintain at 25 degrees Celsius.
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Major Gas Emission Indicators

GHG Emission1 Unit
2020 
PRC

2020 
HK

2020 
Total

2019 
Total

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 2.34 4.15 6.49 2.09

Sulphur dioxide (SO2) kg 0.04 0.07 0.11 0.46

Particular matter (PM) kg 0.17 0.31 0.48 0.39

Scope 12 Tonnes of CO2-e 7.14 12.77 19.91 13.51

Scope 23 Tonnes of CO2-e 28.73 8.05 36.78 27.02

Total Tonnes of CO2-e 35.84 20.82 56.66 40.53

GHG Emission Tonnes of CO2-e/m2 0.029 0.173 – –

Notes:

1. The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard from greenhouse gas 

protocol.

2. Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled by the Group.

3. Scope 2: Indirect emission from the generation of purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

1.2 Waste Management

The Group does not generate any types of hazardous waste during operation. The major source of non– 
hazardous comes from the office waste. The Group has implemented measures to minimize the waste 
generation amount and the waste generated in 2020 was in a very low level. Relevant data is expected to 
report in next year’s report.

For wastewater, water is not the major production resource, the Group generates minimal amount of 
wastewater. Nevertheless, the Group strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations.

The Group continued to implement and regularly review the established waste management system to ensure 
the proper handling of different types of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The Group promotes the 
recycle and reuse of used office documents to reduce the generation of non-hazardous waste. The major 
measures are listed below:

• Promote “paper-free” office and encourage staff to reduce printing demands;

• Encourage material and stationery re-use and choosing suitable packaging materials;

• Reduce the use of paper cup in pantry and promote the use of environment friendly cleaning products; 
and

• Promote waste segregation and recycling within the office to further reduce the generation of general 
waste.
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2. Use of Resources

The Group strives to reduce the use of resources and enhance the resource utilization by implementing energy and 
water efficiency initiatives. The Group actively encourages the employees to be part of the resource saving program.

For energy consumption, the Group aims at eliminating “vampire power” by unplugging unused electronic device. 
The employees are advised to shut doors and close curtains in office to enhance the heat insulation effect to reduce 
the cost of air conditioning. Moreover, the air-conditioning system is set to 25 degree Celsius which is considered 
to be the most energy-efficient level. For transportation, employees are encouraged to adopt “carpooling” to reduce 
the use of the Group’s vehicles.

Most of the business operation in the PRC and in Hong Kong are located in commercial buildings which is 
managed by third party property management service providers. Water consumption data is not feasible to obtain in 
such subsidiaries in 2020 as the Group cannot access the water usage record. However, the Group regularly raise 
employees’ awareness on water usage and advise them to reduce unnecessary water consumption during daily 
operation.

Resource 
Consumption Unit

2020 
PRC

2020 
HK

2020 
Total

2019 
Total

Purchased Electricity Kilowatt Per Hour In ‘000s 34.34 10.06 44.40 55.69

Petrol Kilowatt Per Hour In ‘000s 23.47 41.97 65.44 55.06

Total Kilowatt Per Hour  
In ‘000s

57.81 52.03 109.88 110.75

Energy Consumption 
intensity

Kilowatt Per Hour  
In ‘000s/m2

0.05 0.44 – PRC:0.08 
HK:0.10

Water m3 2,922.72 – 2,922.72 2,570.11

Water consumption 
intensity

m3/m2 12.51 – – PRC:11 
HK:–

3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group strives to minimize the impact of the business operation to the environment and natural resources. 
During daily operation, all environmental protection measures are under supervision to ensure proper 
implementation. The Group also constantly explore any potential emission reduction measures day-to-day.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

1. Employment

The Group has employed 108 full-time employees in 2020. All employment are strictly complied with national 
regulations, such as the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract 
Law of the PRC, the Employment Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labour Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law of 
the PRC, the Regulation on the Annual Leave of Employees and local labour laws and regulations, and we use such 
laws and regulations to formulate the Group’s policies and work codes. The Group ensures all our employee are full 
protected in terms of compensation and benefits, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, entitled 
leaves, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, staff training, attendance and performance.

Major indicators for employment

12.11%

43.39%

79.73%

29.27%

38.35%

16.15%

Number and percentage of staff
by age group, 2020

 21-30 years old   31-40 years old
 41-50 years old  51-60 years old

 Male  Female

Number and percentage of staff
by gender, 2020

The employee turnover rate during the Reporting Period by gender, age group, and geographical region as follow:

Employee turnover rate 2020 2019 
By gender
– Male 35% 38%
– Female 19% 54%
By age group
– Age 30 or below 37% 52%
– Age 31-40 28% 40%
– Age 41-50 33% 36%
– Age 51 or above – 13%
By geographical region
– Hong Kong 36% 100%
– The PRC 31% 38%
– Others – –
– Overall 31% 42%

The Group organises wide range of activities, such as team building activities and annual dinner, to boost the 
morale of the employees and maintain a work-life balance for them. The Group strives to provide suitable benefits 
and support to the staff in order to retain talents for our business.
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2. Health and Safety

Safe and comfortable working environment is the Group’s top priority and the Group strictly complies with the 
Labour Law of the PRC, the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of 
the PRC, Measures for the Determination of Work-related Injuries  and relevant local laws and regulations. To provide 
a low-risk working environment for the staffs, the Group has implemented various measures, such as medical 
insurance scheme, regular maintenance on the air ventilation system to reduce indoor air quality. All firefighting and 
safety equipment are placed in the office.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has no work-related fatalities and injuries recorded.

3. Development and Training

The Group aims to provide continuous training to our people, in order to facilitate their career and personal 
development, as well as to maintain an efficient and effective workforce for our business. Our training programs 
are tailored to the needs of different job functions to strengthen the skills and abilities of our employees. Based on 
the business vision and objectives of the Group and assessment of the performance and capability of employees, 
training topics include updates on rules and regulations, technical knowledge, management skills to customer 
service standards. We also encourage our staff to discuss their learning plans with their supervisors during the 
performance evaluation process and we provide financial subsidies for employees to attend external training 
courses, where appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employee trained and the average training hours completed per 
employee by employee category are as follows:

Major indicators for development and training

Training
Percentage of employees 

trained (%)
Average training hours 

(hours/employees)
2020 2019 2020 2019  

By employment category
– Senior Management 50% – 15 –
– Middle Management 24% 50% 48 13
– General 40% 24% 77 8

4. Labour Standards

The Group does not engage in or tolerate any use of child or forced labor in its operations. All employees are 
hired in strict compliance with local labour laws and regulations, including the minimum working age requirement. 
Employment is offered based on the principles of fairness, openness and willingness. All positions are bound by 
legal contracts with detail terms and conditions of employment to protect employees’ and the Company’s interests.

The Group fully complies with the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and strictly emphasizes on the prohibition of 
child labour and forced labour. In particular, the age of the employees is verified by inspecting their identification 
documents. Individuals under the age of 18 or without any identification documents are disqualified from 
employment. Besides, all works should be voluntarily performed and shall not involve forced labour. Upon discovery 
of any child labour and use of forced labour, the person will be dismissed immediately.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group were not aware of any material cases of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations relating to labor standards arising in the Reporting Period that would have had a significant impact on 
the Group.

5. Supply Chain Management on Environmental and Social Risks

The Group has established a fair and transparent supplier selection process with independent review and approval 
for procurement exercises, and does not tolerate any fraud and bribery in our supply chain. The Group is committed 
to establishing a comprehensive vertical supply chain management system. The supply chain management system 
includes regular evaluation of suppliers’ performance and requires the suppliers to take remedial measures where 
this performance is sub-standard. The management system is crucial for the Group the build long-term and stable 
strategic partnership with our suppliers.

Distribution of suppliers by regions

Region
Number of 

suppliers

Northern China 20
Eastern China 12
Southern China 5
Central China 1
Southwestern China 3
Northwestern China 1

6. Product Responsibility

Quality of products and services and business ethics are the topic priority of the Group. The Group does not 
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Its procurement and service delivering processes ensure information 
regarding products and services are clear and open.

The Group has ISO 9001 quality management system demonstrating its commitment to quality and its capability to 
satisfy customer’s requirements. The Group also has ISO 2000 international standards for IT service management 
showing its commitment to provide quality services to customers.

The Group focuses on catering customer needs, providing customers with the most suitable and high quality 
and service products. We implement all relevant and necessary measures to uphold our commitment, aiming 
at providing the best services to customers. The Group is also committed to protecting the confidentiality of 
the personal data and privacy of customers. We put personal data privacy as our top priority. The Group only 
collects information which we consider necessary for our operations. The data collected will be used directly for 
the purposes as stated at the time such data is collected. The Group’s requirements are conveyed to employees 
clearly by entering an agreement with the employees in order to fully abide by the guidance on prohibiting any 
unauthorized accessing or disclosure of confidential information. Employees who violate the agreement will be 
subject to disciplinary action as defined in Staff Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any compliant regarding product responsibility. 
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7. Anti-Corruption

The Group has no tolerance in any form of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraudulent behavior and money laundering. 
The Group has designed and implemented various internal controls to minimize the occurrence of bribery, extortion, 
fraud and money-laundering. The requirements for employees’ ethical requirements and conduct are stipulated in 
the employee handbook, which is distributed and communicated to all employees. Upon proven misconduct case, 
the employee will be subject to disciplinary action and reported to the police and related governing body when 
necessary.

The Group has also established a whistle-blowing channel to enable staff to report on suspicious misconducts. 
Reports made are followed up and investigated by independent personnel on a timely basis. In addition, training 
is regularly provided to management and employees in order to equip them with an understanding of the latest 
regulations and best practices relating to anti-bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering matters.

The Group is in strict compliance with the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC 
and other applicable laws and regulations. The Group is not aware of any cases of material non-compliance with 
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering arising during the Reporting Period 
that would have had a significant impact on the Group.

8. Community Investment

The Group places high priority in creating value for the communities it serves and encourages its employees 
to actively participate in sponsorships and charitable support through direct donation or involvement in various 
community and charitable activities to support those in need. The Group is committed to providing career 
opportunities to the locals and promoting the development of community’s economy. Going forward, the Group is 
looking for opportunities to contribute to the community.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
　

The Board of Directors is pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set 
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10 and “Five-Year Summary and Key Financial Ratios” on pages 
11 and 12 form part of this Directors’ report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations and relationships with 
employees are also discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 25 to 36.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under review was affected by the volatility and uncertainty of 
macro-economic conditions in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s business is also exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, foreign currency and equity price risks. An analysis 
of the Group’s financial risk management is provided in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group continually 
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts attributable from our operational activities in order to minimise these 
impacts if possible.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report, as far as the Company is aware, there was 
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact 
on our business and operation.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to 
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no material and 
significant dispute between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs 
as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 126.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company 
was approximately RMB457,000 (2019: RMB33,269,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in 
note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the 
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata 
basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed 
any of the Company’s listed securities.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on pages 11 
and 12 to this report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not have charitable donation (2019: Nil).

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The list of Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman) (appointed on 2 June 2020)
Ms. Mao Junjie (appointed on 31 December 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Tai (retired upon conclusion of the 2020 AGM)
Mr. Bai Xuefei (resigned on 28 January 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cai Jinliang (appointed on 24 August 2020)
Mr. Hui Yat On (appointed on 11 January 2021)
Ms. Hu Gin Ing (resigned on 17 June 2020)
Mr. Li Wai Kwan (resigned on 12 October 2020)
Mr. Liu Jian (resigned on 25 March 2021)

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Guan Huanfei, Ms. Mao Junjie, Mr. Cai Jinliang and Mr. Hui Yat On, 
being Directors appointed after the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2020, shall retire from 
office as Directors and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company (the “2021 AGM”).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Guan Huanfei, chairman of the Board and an executive Director, entered into a service contract with the Company 
on 2 June 2020 for a term of three years commencing from 2 June 2020. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

Ms. Mao Junjie, an executive Director, entered into a service contract with the Company on 31 December 2020 for a term 
of three years commencing from 31 December 2020. She is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once 
in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

Mr. Cai Jinliang, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a service agreement with the Company on 24 
August 2020 for a term of three years commencing with effect from 24 August 2020. He is subject to retirement by 
rotation and re-election at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

Mr. Liu Jian, a former independent non-executive Director resigned on 25 March 2021, entered into a service agreement 
with the Company on 27 March 2020 for a term of three years commencing with retrospective effect from 19 January 
2020. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once in every three years in accordance with the 
Articles.

Mr. Hui Yat On, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a service contract with the Company on 11 January 
2021 for a term of three years commencing from 11 January 2021. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election 
at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service contract with the Company which 
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as set out below, there was no other equity-linked agreement entered 
into by the Group during the year or subsisting at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 
2016 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options 
to directors, employees, suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers of the Company and the subsidiaries and 
any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in recognition of their 
contribution to the Group. On 1 September 2020, the Company has offered to grant an aggregate of 38,250,000 Share 
Options to nine eligible participants (the “Grantees”), subject to the acceptance of the Grantees, to subscribe for up to 
an aggregate of 38,250,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the 
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

1. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the 
Company as at 26 May 2016, being the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme, which is 417,924,982 
shares (the “Scheme Limit”) and such limit might be refreshed by shareholders at general meeting. However, the 
total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet 
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% 
of the shares in issue from time to time. On 29 June 2016, shareholders of the Company have passed a resolution 
approving the share consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.01 each 
into one (1) consolidated share of par value of HK$0.10 each (“Share Consolidation”) at the extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company. Upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective on 30 June 2016, the Scheme Limit 
has been adjusted to 41,792,498 shares. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for issue 
under the Share Option Scheme is 3,542,498 shares, representing approximately 0.47% of the issued shares of the 
Company.

2. Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the 
options granted to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period 
must not exceed 1% of the relevant class of the shares in issue.

3. There was no requirement for a grantee to hold the option for a minimum period from the date of grant before any 
option granted under the Share Option Scheme can be exercised.
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4. The subscription price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall be not less 
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on 
the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the 
nominal value of the shares. An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be determined and notified 
by the Directors to each Grantee and such period shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the date of grant.

5. The option may be exercised at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each 
Grantee and such period shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the date of grant.

6. The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 28 days after the date of making the offer and the grantee 
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by the way of consideration for the grant.

7. Subject to earlier termination by the Company at general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and 
effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption, i.e. 26 May 2016.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of the Company dated 25 April 2016.

Details of the movement in the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 
December 2020 are as follows:

Category of participants
Date of grant 
of share option Exercise Period

Exercise Price 
(HK$)

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 
2020

Exercised/
cancelled 

during 
the year 

Lapsed 
during 

the year 

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2020

Directors and Employees 1 September 2020 1 December 2020 to 31 
August 2030

0.2122 – – – 38,250,000

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 38,250,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which 
represented approximately 5.05% of the Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly subsisted at the year-end or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the 
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV 
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)), which were notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of 
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code as set out 
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of Director Capacity
Long Position/
Short Position

Number of 
shares held/
Percentage 

in total number 
of issued shares

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Note 1) Beneficial Owner Long Position 200,000 
(0.03%)

Mr. Bai Xuefei (Note 2) Beneficial Owner Long Position 6,300,000 
(0.99%)

Notes:

1. 200,000 Share Options were granted to Mr. Guan Huanfei on 1 September 2020 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, under Part XV of 

the SFO, Mr. Guan Huanfei is taken to be interested in the underlying shares that he is entitled to subscribe for subject to the exercise of and/or the 

validity period of the Share Options granted.

2. 6,300,000 Share Options were granted to Mr. Bai Xuefei (resigned on 28 January 2021) on 1 September 2020 pursuant to the Share Option 

Scheme. Therefore, under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Bai Xuefei is taken to be interested in the underlying shares that he is entitled to subscribe for 

subject to the exercise of and/or the validity period of the Share Options granted.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or chief executives of the Company or their associates had any interests 
or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
as defined in Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, the following persons 
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the 
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly to be interested 
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general 
meetings of any other member of the Group:
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AGGREGATE INTEREST OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF 
THE COMPANY

Name Nature of interest
Long Position/
Short Position

Number of 
shares held/
Percentage 

in total number 
of issued shares

China Taiping Insurance Holdings  
Company Limited  
(“China Taiping”) (Note 1)

Person having a security  
interest in shares

Long Position 203,854,292 
(26.89%)

Taiping Financial Holdings Company  
Limited (Note 1)

Person having a security  
interest in shares

Long Position 203,854,292 
(26.89%)

China Insurance Group Finance  
Company Limited  
(“China Insurance”) (Note 1)

Person having a security  
interest in shares

Long Position 203,854,292 
(26.89%)

King Pak Fu  (“Mr. King”) (Note 2) Interest of controlled 
corporations

Long Position 

Short Position

278,351,792 
(36.71%) 

203,854,292 
(26.89%)

Luck Success Development Limited  
(“Luck Success”) (Note 2)

Beneficial owner Long Position 

Short Position

186,672,292 
(24.62%) 

186,672,292 
(24.62%)

Rentian Technology Holdings Limited 
(“Rentian”) (Note 2)

Interest of controlled 
corporations

Long Position 

Short Position

203,854,292
 (26.89%)

 203,854,292
 (26.89%)

Zhongwei Group (Hong Kong)  
Company Limited (Note 3)

Beneficial Owner Long Position 126,362,155 
(16.67%)

Han Lili (Note 3) Interest of controlled  
corporation

Long Position 126,362,155
 (16.67%)
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Notes:

1. China Insurance is wholly-owned by Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited (“Taiping Financial”), which in turn is wholly-owned by China 

Taiping. Therefore, China Taiping is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Taiping Financial and China Insurance pursuant to the SFO.

2. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. King is deemed to be interested in (i) 60,435,500 Shares held through Affluent Start Holdings Investment Limited (“Affluent 

Start”); (ii) 3,846,000 Shares held through Mystery Idea Limited (“Mystery Idea”); (iii) 10,216,000 Shares held through Elite Mile Investments Limited 

(“Elite Mile”); (iv) 17,182,000 Shares held through Sino Wealthy Limited (“Sino Wealthy”); and (v) 186,672,292 Shares held through Luck Success. 

Each of Affluent Start, Mystery Idea and Elite Mile is wholly-owned by Mr. King. Sino Wealthy is wholly-owned by Gauteng Focus Limited which is 

wholly-owned by Rentian (in liquidation), the latter is indirectly controlled by Mr. King.

3. Zhongwei Group (Hong Kong) Company Limited beneficially owns 126,362,155 Shares and is wholly-owned by Han Lili. Therefore, Han Lili is 

deemed to be interested in the number of Shares held by Zhongwei Group (Hong Kong) Company Limited pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under 
section 336 of the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31 
December 2020.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct 
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirmed 
that all Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 
December 2020.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions 
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in 
force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong 
Kong) when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 
391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Contracts with the Group’s five largest suppliers combined by value, accounted for approximately 48% in value of 
total purchases during the year ended 31 December 2020, while contracts with the Group’s largest supplier by value, 
accounted for approximately 33% in value of total purchases during the year ended 31 December 2020. Aggregate 
sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than 35% of total revenue during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to the knowledge of the 
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted 
above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

There were no connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF REMUNERATION

The Group has a dedicated management team with extensive experience and extensive service, and has a technological 
talent team with high technological standard and abundant practicable experience. They are the force for the rapid growth 
and expansion of the Group since its establishment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, total staff costs for the year was approximately RMB27,082,000 of which 
contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes were approximately RMB1,880,000. The Group has been able 
to retain and motivate outstanding technological and management talents through remuneration at a competitive level, as 
well as training and development plans.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC provide retirement, medical, employment injury, unemployment and maternity 
benefits to its employees in accordance with a state-managed social welfare scheme operated by the local government 
of the PRC, and the relevant PRC rules and regulations. At the same time, the employees of the Company’s subsidiaries 
in the PRC are members of a long-term dormitory provident fund scheme operated by the local government of the PRC. 
According to the scheme, the Group provides dormitory provident fund to the employees in the PRC in accordance with 
the relevant PRC rules and regulations.

Certain executive Directors and members of the senior management of the Group, being non-PRC citizens, may elect 
not to participate in the state-managed social welfare scheme operated by the local government of the PRC. If there is 
any change in the PRC rules and regulations with respect to the retirement scheme upon which the Group is required to 
contribute to the social welfare scheme for non-PRC citizens, the Group shall comply with such new rules and regulations 
within the time limit prescribed by the relevant authorities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of 
this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 18 December 2006 with written terms of reference in compliance with 
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and 
to review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Jian as an independent non-executive Director and cessation as a member of the 
Audit Committee with effect from 25 March 2021, the Audit Committee comprises only two independent non-executive 
Directors, Mr. Cai Jinliang (chairman) and Mr. Hui Yat On, which failed to meet the requirement under Rule 3.21 of the 
Listing Rules that the Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been reviewed 
by the remaining two members of the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 13 December 2019, and Mazars CPA 
Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 13 December 2019. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 were audited by 
Mazars CPA Limited.

Save as aforesaid, there is no change in auditor during the past three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2021 AGM to re-appoint Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Enterprise Development Holdings Limited

Guan Huanfei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
香港灣仔港灣道18號中環廣場42樓

Tel 電話: +852 2909 5555
Fax 傳真: +852 2810 0032
info@mazars.hk
www.mazars.hk

To the shareholders of Enterprises Development Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Enterprises Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 126, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as 
at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the 
“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standard Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment review of intangible assets

Refer to notes 2 and 12 to these consolidated financial statements

The carrying amount of the Group’s intangible assets amounted 
to RMB9,384,000 before the impairment charge for the year as 
at 31 December 2020.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the intangible assets, 
(except trademarks), are allocated to relevant cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”). The recoverable amount of CGU is determined by 
management based on value-in-use (“VIU”) calculations using 
cash flow projections while the recoverable amount of trademark 
is determined based on relief-from-royalty method.

Management has recognised an impairment provision of 
RMB8,215,000 in respect of the intangible assets for the year 
ended 31 December 2020. This is considered a key audit 
matter because of the significance of amounts involved and 
management judgment with respect to the key assumptions, 
including revenue growth and discount rates.

Our procedures, among others, included:

– Assessing the competence, capabilities, 
object iv i ty and resul ts of the work of 
independent professional valuer that was 
appointed by the management and assisted 
management to determine the recoverable 
amounts;

– Evaluating the appropriateness of the model 
used by the management;

– Evaluating the composition of the Group’s 
future cash flow forecasts, and the process by 
which they were drawn up, including testing the 
underlying calculations and comparing them to 
the latest approved budgets;

– Evaluating the determination of the recoverable 
amount;

– Eva luat ing the reasonableness of key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the 
business and industry; and

– Evaluating the adequacy of sensitivity analysis.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Assessment of expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade and other receivables

Refer to notes 2, 19 and 28(a) to these consolidated financial statements

At the end of each reporting period, where appropriate, the 
Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing 
the risk of default occurring over the expected life between the 
end of reporting period and the date of initial recognition. The 
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information, 
including historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort.

This is considered a key audit matter because of the significance 
of trade and other receivables and the assessment of ECL for 
trade and other receivables involves significant management 
judgements and estimates at the reporting date.

Our procedures, among others, included:

– Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s 
credit risk management and practices, and 
assessing if the Group’s ECL policy is in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9;

– Eva luat ing management ’s method for 
determination of significant increase in credit 
risk and the basis for classification of exposures 
into different stages;

– Evaluating the estimation methodology of ECL; 
and

– Considering the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosure in relation to credit risk.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in 2020 annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(cont'd)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:

Chan Hiu Fun
Practising Certificate number: P05709



52 Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

Revenue 3(a) 70,839 101,628

Cost of sales (53,261) (78,303) 
Gross profit 17,578 23,325

Other income and gains 4 862 234
Distribution expenses (19,486) (22,837)
General and administrative expenses (17,305) (21,867)
Other operating expenses (7) (50)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 17 3,696 –
Loss allowance on trade and other receivables, net (975) (23,576)
Impairment on prepayment made to suppliers – (27,150)
Impairment on intangible assets 12 (8,215) (12,446)
Impairment on goodwill – (19,541) 
Loss from operation (23,852) (103,908)

Finance costs 5(a) (1,223) (1,655) 
Loss before taxation 5 (25,075) (105,563)

Income tax (expense) credit 6 (247) 1,444 
Loss for the year (25,322) (104,119) 
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company (16,833) (81,863)
Non-controlling interests (8,489) (22,256) 

Loss for the year (25,322) (104,119) 
RMB RMB

Basic and diluted loss per share 10 (0.026) (0.155) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Loss for the year (25,322) (104,119) 
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (after tax)
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of  
overseas operations (1,555) 16 

(1,555) 16 
Total comprehensive loss for the year (26,877) (104,103) 
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company (18,349) (81,871)
Non-controlling interests (8,528) (22,232) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (26,877) (104,103) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,022 432
Intangible assets 12 1,169 10,462
Right-of-use assets 14 2,642 3,134
Goodwill 15 – –
Deferred tax assets 23 346 346 

5,179 14,374 
Current assets
Inventories 16 937 937
Financial assets at FVPL 17 10,236 –
Contract assets 18 12,822 16,464
Trade and other receivables 19 61,429 91,498
Cash and cash equivalents 20 99,922 64,766 

185,346 173,665 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 10,104 23,460
Contract liabilities 18 6,801 1,042
Lease liabilities 14 1,637 2,378
Interest-bearing borrowings 22 9,818 16,214
Current taxation 3,293 2,781 

31,653 45,875 
Net current assets 153,693 127,790 
Total assets less current liabilities 158,872 142,164 
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities 14 771 821 
NET ASSETS 158,101 141,343 
Capital and reserves
Share capital 24(a) 64,905 44,711
Reserves 24(b) 30,009 24,917 
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders  

of the Company 94,914 69,628
Non-controlling interests 63,187 71,715 
TOTAL EQUITY 158,101 141,343 

These consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 126 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 March 2021 and signed on its behalf by

Guan Huanfei Mao Junjie
Director Director



55Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2020

Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Other 
reserve

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

PRC 
statutory 

reserve
Exchange 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 24(a)) (Note 24(b)(i)) (Note 24(b)(ii)) (Note 24(b)(iii)) (Note 24(b)(iv)) (Note 24(b)(v))

At 1 January 2019 44,711 530,446 (8,440) – 8,483 22,997 (446,698) 151,499 93,947 245,446

Loss for the year – – – – – – (81,863) (81,863) (22,256) (104,119)

Other comprehensive (loss) income  
for the year (after tax):

Items that are or may be reclassified to 
profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of 
financial statements of overseas 
operations – – – – – (8) – (8) 24 16

– – – – – (8) – (8) 24 16

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (8) (81,863) (81,871) (22,232) (104,103)

At 31 December 2019 44,711 530,446 (8,440) – 8,483 22,989 (528,561) 69,628 71,715 141,343

At 1 January 2020 44,711 530,446 (8,440) – 8,483 22,989 (528,561) 69,628 71,715 141,343

Loss for the year – – – – – – (16,833) (16,833) (8,489) (25,322)

Other comprehensive loss  
for the year (after tax):

Items that are or may be reclassified to 
profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of 
financial statements of overseas 
operations – – – – – (1,516) – (1,516) (39) (1,555)

– – – – – (1,516) – (1,516) (39) (1,555)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (1,516) (16,833) (18,349) (8,528) (26,877)

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions:
Issue of new shares,  

net of expenses (note 24(a)(i)) 9,492 13,413 – – – – – 22,905 – 22,905
Issue of new shares,  

net of expenses (note 24(a)(ii)) 10,702 7,268 – – – – – 17,970 – 17,970
Equity-settled share-based  

payments (note 25) – – – 2,760 – – – 2,760 – 2,760

Total transactions with owners 20,194 20,681 – 2,760 – – – 43,635 – 43,635

At 31 December 2020 64,905 551,127 (8,440) 2,760 8,483 21,473 (545,394) 94,914 63,187 158,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before taxation (25,075) (105,563)

Adjustment for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 1,078 1,331
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL 17 (3,696) –
Increase (Decrease) in loss allowance on contract assets 18 455 (115)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 348 457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14 2,156 2,742
Equity-settled share-based payments 25 2,760 –
Finance costs 5(a) 1,223 1,655
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (21) (5)
Impairment on goodwill – 19,541
Impairment on intangible assets 12 8,215 12,446
Impairment on prepayment made to suppliers – 27,150
Increase in loss allowance on trade and other receivables 975 23,576
Interest income (17) (32)
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (96) 4

Changes in working capital:
Contract assets 3,187 (1,962)
Contract liabilities 5,759 (10,091)
Financial assets at FVPL (7,101) –
Trade and other payables (13,356) 10,251
Trade and other receivables 27,644 6,008 

Cash generated from (used in) operations 4,438 (12,607) 
Tax paid:

PRC income taxes paid (105) (107)
PRC income taxes refunded 370 138 

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 4,703 (12,576) 
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2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,094) (108)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits – 174
Payment for intangible assets – (3,228)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 226 67
Interest received 17 32 
Net cash used in investing activities (851) (3,063) 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of new shares, net of expenses 24 40,875 –
Proceeds from new interest-bearing borrowings – 11,744
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings 20(b) (5,000) (24,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities 20(b) (2,434) (2,673)
Finance costs paid 20(b) (1,223) (1,655) 
Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities 32,218 (16,584) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36,070 (32,223)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 64,766 96,446

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (914) 543 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20(a) 99,922 64,766 



58 Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Enterprise Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 
exempted company with limited liability on 20 April 2006 under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as 
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 11 January 2007.

As at 31 December 2020, the holding company of the Company is Luck Success Development Limited, a 
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with limited liability, which is an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Rentian Technology Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (“Rentian”) since 27 April 2017. The directors of 
the Company consider the ultimate holding company of the Company to be Rentian, a company incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual IFRSs, 
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (the “IASB”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also comply 
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for 
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) to these consolidated financial statements provides 
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to 
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), and rounded to the nearest thousand.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the historical 
cost, except for financial assets at FVPL (see note 1(f)), which are measured at fair value as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements (cont'd)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2 in these 
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a number of new IFRSs and amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the 
current accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IASs 1 and 8 Definition of Material
Amendments to IAS 39, IFRSs 7 and 9 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to IASs 1 and 8: Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material and align the definition used across IFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to IAS 39, IFRSs 7 and 9: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1

The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential 
effects of the uncertainties caused by interest rate benchmark reform (the market-wide reform of an interest 
rate benchmark, including the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark). 
In addition, the amendments require companies to provide additional information to investors about their 
hedging relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business

The amendments, among others, revise the definition of a business and include new guidance to evaluate 
whether an acquired process is substantive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the 
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and 
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those 
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect 
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, 
separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests 
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total 
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and the 
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual 
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in accordance with notes 1(o), (p) and (q) to these consolidated financial statements 
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling 
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to 
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that 
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former 
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair 
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f))

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
impairment losses (see note 1(k)).
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree; 
over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain 
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is 
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or Groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 1(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is 
included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out 
below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, 
except for those investments measured at FVPL for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or 
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 28(f). These 
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading 
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent 
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from 
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive 
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of 
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It 
is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether 
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy 
set out in note 1(w)(iii).

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include equity securities listed in Hong Kong.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
(see note 1(k)):

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are 
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Machinery, equipment and tools 5-10 years
Motor vehicles and other fixed assets 2-8 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful 
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially 
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete development. The expenditure 
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of overheads. 
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see 
note 1(k)). Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(k)). Expenditure on internally 
generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the assets’ estimated useful lives, except for customer contracts, which are amortised when the economic 
benefits of the assets are expected to be consumed. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
amortised from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Firewall patents 10 years
Software patents 10 years
Customer relationships 4 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (cont'd)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion 
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events and 
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the 
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date 
of change and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set 
out above. The Group’s intangible assets that are determined to have an indefinite useful life comprise 
trademarks.

(i) Operating lease charges

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease 
payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and accounts for 
each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to be part of 
the total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(i) Operating lease charges (cont'd)

As lessee (cont'd)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is 
provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-
of-use asset as follows:

Office premises Over lease team

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the 
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option 
to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily 
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the lease payments 
arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain 
to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in the residual value 
guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments resulting from a 
change in floating interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(i) Operating lease charges (cont'd)

As lessee (cont'd)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-
use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction 
in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the remeasurement in 
profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use or more underlying assets; 
and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price 
for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease 
modification,

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price 
as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the 
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to 
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or 
full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by 
making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

– financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank 
deposit, trade and other receivables);

– contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 (see note 1(q));

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity securities measured at FVPL, equity securities 
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of 
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect of discounting 
is material:

– fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and contract assets: effective interest rate 
determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of 
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

– 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within the 12 
months after the reporting date; and

– lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the 
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (cont'd)

Measurement of ECLs (cont'd)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. ECLs on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current 
and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments including loan receivables, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal 
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since 
initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting 
date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group considers 
that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, 
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

– failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating 
(if available);

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

– existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have a 
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk 
is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a 
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as 
past due status and credit risk ratings.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (cont'd)

Significant increases in credit risk (cont'd)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since 
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. 
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment 
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income on credit-impaired financial assets Interest income recognised in 
accordance with note 1(w)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless 
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost 
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit impaired. A financial asset is 
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

– significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse 
effect on the debtor; or

– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is 
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does 
not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject 
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of loss 
allowance in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(k) Impairment of other non-current assets

Write-off policy (cont'd)

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify 
indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– right-of-use assets;

– intangible assets;

– goodwill; and

– investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible 
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable 
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use 
(“VIU”). In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently 
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating 
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or 
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 
individual fair value less costs to disposal, if measurable or VIU, if determinable.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit 
or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(l) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of 
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(m) Trade and other receivables (other than prepayment made to suppliers)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive 
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 1(q)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses 
(see note 1(j)).

(n) Prepayment made to suppliers

Prepayment made to suppliers are stated at cost less allowance for impairment losses.

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see 
note 1(y)).

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at 
cost.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(q) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see note 1(w)) before being 
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets 
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(j) and are reclassified to receivables 
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional (see note 1(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises 
the related revenue (see note 1(w)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an 
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a 
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note 1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For 
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net 
basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest accrued 
under the effective interest method (see note 1(j)).

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of 
maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set 
out in note 1(j).

(s) Employee benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of 
nonmonetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by 
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts 
are stated at their present values.

(ii) Contributions to appropriate local retirement schemes pursuant to the relevant labour rules and 
regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
as incurred, except to the extent that they are included in the cost of inventories not yet recognised as 
an expense.
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(t) Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over shares. The 
cost of such transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the grant date. The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost 
with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined using the binomial model, 
taking into account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement 
of relevant employees to the award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting 
conditions (“vesting date”). During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest 
ultimately is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior periods is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within 
equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the 
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

(u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current 
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the 
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payables on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payables in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being 
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their 
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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(u) Income tax (cont'd)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. 
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected 
to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in 
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same 
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition 
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into 
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse 
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, 
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the 
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the related tax 
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay 
the related dividends is recognised.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

(u) Income tax (cont'd)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each 
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets 
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– In the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– In the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and 
settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value 
of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(w) Revenue and other revenue

Nature of goods or services

The Group’s revenue from software business represents the sales of software license and other products, the 
provision of software maintenance services and other services.
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(w) Revenue and other revenue (cont'd)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and 
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources 
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other 
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of 
the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control 
of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation 
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 
as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the 
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point 
in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control 
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, 
right to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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(w) Revenue and other revenue (cont'd)

Timing of revenue recognition (cont'd)

Sale of good is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset, 
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Software maintenance services and other services are recognised over time when services are rendered.

For revenue recognised over time under IFRS 15, provided the outcome of the performance obligation can 
be reasonably measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on the direct measurements 
of the value to the customer of the goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining goods 
or services promised under the contract) to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
performance obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of the Group’s performance and 
reliable information is available to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of the costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the performance 
obligation. The Group applies the output method as services completed to date over the life of the contract.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group is provided 
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the 
transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the time value of money. 
The effect of the significant financing component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense 
separately from revenue from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a 
separate financing transaction between the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, 
where appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling 
price of the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, 
the Group’s borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer of the Group.
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(w) Revenue and other revenue (cont'd)

Transaction price: significant financing components (cont'd)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably and on the following bases:

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the products. If the 
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or services, then the amount 
of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under the contract, 
allocated between all the goods and services promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone 
selling price basis.

(ii) Software maintenance services and other services

Software maintenance services and other services are provided in the form of fixed-price contracts. 
Sales of these services are recognised in the period the services are provided, using a straight-line basis 
over the term of contract. The deferred revenue is included in contract liabilities.

(iii) Dividends

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment is established.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method using the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset.
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(x) Translation of foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries in the PRC are Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and 
RMB respectively. For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted 
RMB as its presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
functional currencies at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of each reporting period. Exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date 
on which the company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of operations outside the PRC are translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating to 
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Consolidated statement of financial position 
items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The 
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in 
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of operations outside the PRC, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating 
to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is 
recognised.

(y) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of 
the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or 
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or 
sale are interrupted or complete.
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(z) Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”) for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various 
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which 
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going 
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

Key Sources of estimation uncertainty

(a) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market 
conditions and the historical experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It could change 
significantly as a result of market conditions. Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each 
reporting period.

(b) Loss allowance of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires 
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment of both the current and forecast 
general economic conditions at the end of the reporting period. Where the estimation is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade and other receivable and thus the 
loss allowance in the period in which such estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the ECL of trade 
and other receivables during the expected lives.
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2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (cont'd)

Key Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)

(c) Provision for impairment of prepayment made to suppliers

The Group makes prepayment to suppliers in accordance with the purchase order entered into with the 
suppliers. These prepayments are to be offset against future services provided from suppliers.

The Group does not require collateral or other security against its prepayment made to suppliers. The Group 
estimates the provision for impairment of prepayment made to suppliers based on evaluation of utilisation, 
ageing analysis of accounts and market volatilities. The identification of impairment requires management’s 
judgements and estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original 
estimation, such difference will have impact on the carrying value of the prepayment made to suppliers and 
impairment in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(d) Impairment for non-current assets

The management determines the impairment loss on assets other than goodwill if circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed 
periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts have declined below the carrying amounts. 
These assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their 
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount 
is reduced to recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use (“VIU”). In 
determining the VIU, expected cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which 
requires significant judgement relating to level of sales volume, sales revenue and amount of operating costs. 
The Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation 
of recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and 
projections of sales volume, sales revenue and amount of operating costs.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of 
the fair value less cost of disposal and the VIU of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 
Estimating the VIU requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows.

(e) Impairment of investments

The Group assesses annually if investment in subsidiaries has suffered any impairment in accordance with 
IAS 36 and follows the guidance of IFRS 9 in determining whether amounts due from these entities are 
impaired. Details of the approach are stated in the respective accounting policies. The assessment requires an 
estimation of future cash flows, including expected dividends, from the assets and the selection of appropriate 
discount rates. Future changes in financial performance and position of these entities would affect the 
estimation of impairment loss and cause the adjustments of their carrying amounts.
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2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (cont'd)

Key Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)

(f) Determination of discount rates for calculating lease liabilities

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount future lease payments since interest 
rates implicit in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for its leases, the 
Group refers to a rate that is readily observable as the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts 
such observable rate to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

(g) Valuation of share options

As explained in note 25, share option expense is subject to the limitations of the option pricing models 
adopted and the uncertainty in estimates used by management in the assumptions. Should the estimates 
including expected interval and frequency of open exercise periods in the share option life and the relevant 
parameters of the share option model be changed, there would be material changes in the amount of share 
option benefits recognised in the profit or loss and share-based payment reserve.

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of integrated business software solutions.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Software maintenance and other services 43,442 93,547
Sale of software license and other products 27,088 8,062
Others 309 19 

70,839 101,628 
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3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

(a) Revenue (cont'd)

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by major products and services and timing of 
revenue recognition is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope  
of IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products and services
Software maintenance and other services 43,442 93,547
Sale of software license and other products 27,088 8,062

Revenue from other sources
Others 309 19 

70,839 101,628 
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 27,088 8,062
Over time 43,751 93,566 

70,839 101,628 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by geographic market is disclosed in note 3(c) to 
these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are mainly organised by business lines. In a manner 
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Board for the purpose of resource 
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following one major reportable 
segment. No operating segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

Software Business: Provision of integrated business software solutions in the PRC

In addition, other unreportable segment (money lending and security trading) are aggregated and presented 
as “Others”.
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3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

(b) Segment reporting (cont'd)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 
Board monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the following 
bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets with the exception of 
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade payables and accruals 
attributable to the sales activities of the individual segments and borrowings managed directly by the 
segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated 
by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the 
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment loss is “adjusted loss before taxation”. Adjusted loss before 
taxation, the Group’s losses before items not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as 
directors’ and auditor’s remuneration and other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted loss before taxation, the Board 
is provided with segment information concerning revenue, interest income and expense from cash 
balances and borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and additions 
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their operations.

Segment revenue reported below represents revenue generated from external customers. There were 
no inter-segment sales in both years.
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3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

(b) Segment reporting (cont'd)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont'd)

Information regarding the Group’s major reportable segment as provided to the Board for the purposes 
of resource allocation and assessment performance for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 
is set out below:

Software Business Others Total   

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000   

Revenue

Revenue from external customers 70,530 101,609 309 19 70,839 101,628   

Reportable segment revenue 70,530 101,609 309 19 70,839 101,628   

Reportable segment loss

Adjusted loss before taxation (25,524) (79,784) 7,832 (21,158) (17,692) (100,942)   

Change in fair value of financial assets 

at FVPL – – (3,696) – (3,696) –

Depreciation and amortisation  

for the year 3,467 4,516 115 14 3,582 4,530

Impairment on goodwill – 19,541 – – – 19,541

Impairment on intangible assets 8,215 12,446 – – 8,215 12,446

Impairment on prepayment  

made to suppliers – 27,150 – – – 27,150

Interest expenses 840 1,258 – – 840 1,258

Loss allowance (Reversal of loss 

allowance) on trade and  

other receivables 6,182 2,983 (5,257) 20,593 925 23,576

Reportable segment assets 157,924 186,177 31,265 589 189,189 186,766

Additions to non-current segment 

assets during the year 3,223 8,202 – – 3,223 8,202

Reportable segment liabilities 25,776 40,172 – – 25,776 40,172   
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3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

(b) Segment reporting (cont'd)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 70,839 101,628 
Loss before taxation
Reportable segment loss derived from the Group’s  

external customers (17,692) (100,942)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (7,383) (4,621) 
Consolidated loss before taxation (25,075) (105,563) 

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Assets
Reportable segment assets 189,189 186,766
Deferred tax assets 346 346
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 990 927 
Consolidated total assets 190,525 188,039 
Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 25,776 40,172
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 6,648 6,524 
Consolidated total liabilities 32,424 46,696 



87Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (cont'd)

(c) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from 
external customers; and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 
assets (“Specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the location at 
which the services were provided, or the goods delivered. The geographical location of the Specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset in the case of property, plant and equipment, 
and the location of the operation to which they are allocated in the case of intangible assets and right-of-use 
assets.

Revenue from 
external customers

Specified non-
current assets

2020 2019 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  

The PRC 70,530 101,609 4,356 13,988
Hong Kong 309 19 477 40  

70,839 101,628 4,833 14,028  

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there was no customer with whom transactions have 
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.

4. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Gain on disposal on financial assets at FVPL 536 133
Others 326 101 

862 234 
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5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is stated after charging (crediting):

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

(a) Finance costs

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 1,112 1,458
Interest on lease liabilities 111 197 

1,223 1,655 
(b) Staff costs

Salaries, wages and other benefits 22,442 25,301
Contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes  

(note 26) (note) 1,880 3,136
Share-based payment in respect of share options (note 25(c)) 2,760 – 

27,082 28,437 
(c) Other items

Auditor’s remuneration 625 529
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 1,078 1,331
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 11) 348 457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 14) 2,156 2,742
Leases expenses of other premises under short term leases  

(note 14) 889 974
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (96) 4
Loss allowance (Reversal of loss allowance) on contract assets 455 (115) 

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group benefited from the preferential policy of social insurance contribution reduction and 

exemption during the coronavirus outbreak epidemic.
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6. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CREDIT)

(i) Income tax expenses (credit) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Current tax – the PRC
Provision for the year 341 105
Over provision in respect of prior year (94) (1,549) 

247 (1,444) 

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any 
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for the PRC income tax is based on the respective corporate income tax rates applicable to 
the subsidiaries located in the PRC as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and 
regulations of the PRC. The statutory income tax rate of its PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019.

Beijing Orient LegendMaker Software Development Co., Ltd. is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 
15% for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 as it was awarded high-technology status by the tax 
authority.

No provision of Hong Kong Profit Tax had been made as the Group’s does not have assessable profit or 
incurred a loss for taxation purpose (2019: No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the 
Group’s does not have assessable profit or has tax losses brought forward to set off assessable profit from 
Hong Kong).

These tax rates were used to calculate the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020 
and 2019.

(ii) Reconciliation between income tax expenses (credit) and loss before taxation at applicable tax rates:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Loss before taxation (25,075) (105,563) 
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates of 25% (2019: 25%) (6,269) (26,390)
Tax effect of different tax rates of operations in  

other jurisdictions 500 6,362
Effect of non-deductible expenses 2,605 7,052
Effect of non-taxable income (622) (58)
Effect of tax loss not recognised 1,513 2,779
Effect of temporary difference not recognised 2,614 10,360
Over-provision in respect of prior years (94) (1,549) 
Tax expenses (credit) 247 (1,444) 
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7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of 
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020    

Directors’

fees

Salaries,
allowance

and
benefits-

in-kind

Retirement
scheme

contributions

Equity-
settled

share-based
payment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note (i))     

Chairman
Mr. Guan Huanfei  

(Appointed on 2 June 2020) – 1,038 10 14 1,062
Mr. Lam Kai Tai  

(Retired on 28 May 2020) – 169 7 – 176

Executive director
Mr. Bai Xuefei  

(Resigned on 28 January 2021) – 213 9 455 677
Ms. Mao Junjie  

(Appointed on 31 December 2020) – 9 – – 9

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cai Jinliang  

(Appointed on 24 August 2020) 76 – – – 76
Ms. Hu Gin Ing  

(Resigned on 17 June 2020) 107 – – – 107
Mr. Li Wai Kwan  

(Resigned on 12 October 2020) 167 – – – 167
Mr. Liu Jian  

(Resigned on 25 March 2021) 213 – – – 213     
563 1,429 26 469 2,487     
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7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont'd)

Year ended 31 December 2019

Directors’

fees

Salaries,
allowance

and
benefits-

in-kind

Retirement
scheme

contributions

Equity-
settled

share-based
payment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Chairman
Mr. Lam Kai Tai – 390 15 – 405

Executive director
Mr. Bai Xuefei – 205 10 – 215

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Hu Gin Ing 205 – – – 205
Mr. Li Wai Kwan 205 – – – 205
Mr. Liu Jian 205 – – – 205

615 595 25 – 1,235

Note:

(i) Equity-settled share-based payment represents share options granted to the directors of the Company under a share option scheme 

adopted by the Company. The value of these share options is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based 

payment transactions.

Details of share options granted to the directors of the Company and other employees, including the principal terms and number of options 

granted, are set out in note 25 to these consolidated financial statements.　

There were no amounts paid during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 to the directors in connection 
with their retirement from employment with the Group, or inducement to join. There was no arrangement under 
which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019.



92 Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

8. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2019: Nil) of them is a director. The aggregate of the 
emoluments in respect of the other four (2019: five) individuals are as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits 3,484 3,681
Retirement scheme contributions 142 205
Share-based payment in respect of share options 469 – 

4,095 3,886 
Number of senior managements 4 5 

The emoluments of the four (2019: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2020 2019 

Nil – HK$1,000,000 3 4
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 1 

4 5 

There were no amounts paid to the five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement from 
employment with the Group, or inducement to join during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

9. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil), nor has any 
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

10. BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 is based on the loss 
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB16,833,000 (2019: approximately 
RMB81,863,000) and the weighted average of 637,564,974 (2019: 526,508,982) ordinary shares in issue during 
the year.

Potential dilutive ordinary shares are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share because they are anti-
dilutive. Therefore, the diluted loss per share equals the basic loss per share.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2019 856 5,791 6,647
Exchange adjustments 2 1 3
Additions 47 61 108
Disposals (127) (342) (469)

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 778 5,511 6,289
Exchange adjustments (5) (34) (39)
Additions 69 1,025 1,094
Disposals (197) (2,329) (2,526)
Written off – (2,113) (2,113)

At 31 December 2020 645 2,060 2,705

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019 (517) (5,279) (5,796)
Exchange adjustments (1) (1) (2)
Charge for the year (160) (297) (457)
Written back on disposals 105 293 398

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 (573) (5,284) (5,857)
Exchange adjustments 4 9 13
Charge for the year (124) (224) (348)
Written back on disposals 183 2,213 2,396
Written off – 2,113 2,113

At 31 December 2020 (510) (1,173) (1,683)

Net book value:
At 31 December 2020 135 887 1,022

At 31 December 2019 205 227 432
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer Customer Firewall Software
relationships contracts Trademarks patents patents Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

Costs:
At 1 January 2019 7,262 3,015 2,815 665 20,830 34,587
Additions – – – – 3,228 3,228

At 31 December 2019 and  
31 December 2020 7,262 3,015 2,815 665 24,058 37,815

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2019 (7,262) (3,015) – (665) (2,634) (13,576)
Charge for the year – – – – (1,331) (1,331)

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 (7,262) (3,015) – (665) (3,965) (14,907)

Charge for the year – – – – (1,078) (1,078)

At 31 December 2020 (7,262) (3,015) – (665) (5,043) (15,985)

Accumulated impairment:
At 1 January 2019 – – – – – –
Impairment – – (1,246) – (11,200) (12,446)

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 – – (1,246) – (11,200) (12,446)

Impairment – – (400) – (7,815) (8,215)

At 31 December 2020 – – (1,646) – (19,015) (20,661)

Net book value:
At 31 December 2020 – – 1,169 – – 1,169

At 31 December 2019 – – 1,569 – 8,893 10,462

The amortisation charge for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are included in “cost of sales” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont'd)

Notes:

(i) Trademarks

The recoverable amount of the trademark with indefinite useful life is determined based on its fair value determined using relief-from-

royalty method by reference to the valuation report issued by an independent valuer, Valplus Consulting Limited (“Valplus”), which used the 

expected sales deriving from the trademarks in the Software Business included in the cash flow projections based on financial estimates 

covering a five-year period. Revenue growth rate is based on past performance, current industry trends and management expectation of 

market development. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3% (2019: 3%). The cash flows 

are discounted using a discount rate of 28.5% (2019: 28.5%). The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the 

relevant segments.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment loss of approximately RMB400,000 (2019: RMB1,246,000) was recognised in 

respect of the trademark.

If the budgeted revenue over the five-year forecast period used in the calculation had been 5% lower than management’s estimates at 31 

December 2020, the Group would have had to recognise an further impairment against the carrying amount of trademarks of RMB179,000 

(2019: RMB242,000).

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections had been 1% higher than management’s estimates, the Group would have 

had to recognise a further impairment against the trademarks of RMB42,000 (2019: RMB57,000).

(ii) Software patents

Software patents comprise staff costs which were costs capitalised in respect of development work carried out on internally generated 

intangible assets. The patents were designed and developed by the Group to assist the improvement of customer’s computer system and 

expected to have useful economic life of 10 years. The management expected these software patents to contribute net cash inflows within 

the lifespan of these patents.

The Group has engaged Valplus to perform an appraisal of the value of the CGU in the Software Business. The recoverable amount of the 

CGU is determined on the basis of higher of the CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and VIU calculations.

The recoverable amount of the CGU in the Software Business is determined based on VIU calculations. The key assumptions for the 

recoverable amount are the underlying cash flow projections, revenue growth rate and discount rate used. These calculations use cash 

flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Revenue growth rate is based on past 

performance, current industry trends and management expectation of market development. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are 

extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3% (2019: 3%). The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of 24.6% (2019: 24.1%). The 

discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

Based on the valuation prepared by Valplus, the recoverable amount was lower than the carrying amount of the CGU in the Software 

Business, an impairment loss of approximately RMB7,815,000 (2019: RMB11,200,000) was recognised in respect of the software patents for 

the year ended 31 December 2020.
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or 
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of subsidiaries

Place of incorporation/

establishment and 

operation

Percentage of equity 

interests held by the 

Company Particulars of issued share 

capital/paid up capital Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

% %

Winsino Investments Limited The BVI 100% – 1 share of United States 

Dollars (“USD”) 1

Investment holding

Smart Billion Enterprises Corporation The BVI 100% – 100 shares of USD1 each Investment holding

Easy Talent Limited Cayman Islands – 60% 10 shares of USD1 each Investment holding

Liang Hui Holdings Limited The BVI – 60% 1 share of USD1 Investment holding

Oriental Legend Maker Technology Ltd. Hong Kong – 60% 1 share of HK$1 Investment holding

Beijing Orient LegendMaker Software 

Development Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OLM”) 

((note (i) and (iii))

The PRC – 60% RMB110,000,000 Provision of integrated

business software solutions

Chengdu Orient LegendMaker Information 

Industry Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu OLM”)  

((note (ii) and (iii))

The PRC – 60% RMB30,000,000 Provision of integrated

business software solutions

Shanghai Orient LegendMaker  

Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai OLM”) 

((note (ii) and (iii))

The PRC – 60% RMB10,000,000 Provision of integrated 

business software solutions

Notes:

(i) These entities are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC.

(ii) These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

(iii) The English translation of the company names are for reference only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

(iv) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year.
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing OLM, Chengdu OLM and Shanghai OLM, the 
subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial information 
presented below represents the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Beijing OLM Chengdu OLM Shanghai OLM
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000   
NCI percentage 40% 40% 40% 40% 40% 40%

Current assets 116,369 126,514 37,774 38,498 44,080 51,846
Non-current assets 38,808 46,984 13,608 13,603 1,067 2,123
Current liabilities (58,908) (54,094) (947) (829) (15,900) (23,311)
Non-current liabilities (524) – – – (247) (821)
Net assets 95,745 119,404 50,435 51,272 29,000 29,837
Carrying amounts of NCI 38,298 47,762 20,174 20,509 11,600 11,935

Revenue 24,117 65,285 1,933 1,896 44,480 36,223
Loss for the year (23,663) (44,336) (837) (3,027) (838) (3,172)
Total comprehensive loss (23,663) (44,336) (837) (3,027) (838) (3,172)
Loss allocated to NCI (9,465) (17,734) (335) (1,211) (335) (1,269)
Dividend paid to NCI – – – –

Cash flow from (used in) 
operating activities 22,423 493 (19) (90) 5,158 (306)

Cash flows (used in) from 
investing activities (380) (3,070) (10) – 125 4

Cash flow used in  
financing activities (5,164) (12,578) – – (3,856) (3,606)
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets

Office premises
RMB’000

Costs:
At 1 January 2019 1,328
Derecognition due to early termination (679)
Additions 4,866

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 5,515
Derecognition due to early termination (3,844)
Additions 2,129

At 31 December 2020 3,800

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019 –
Derecognition due to early termination 361
Charge for the year (2,742)

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 (2,381)
Derecognition due to early termination 3,379
Charge for the year (2,156)

At 31 December 2020 (1,158)

Net book value:
At 31 December 2020 2,642

At 31 December 2019 3,134

Lease liabilities

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Current portion 1,637 2,378
Non-current portion 771 821 

2,408 3,199 

The Group’s right-of-use assets represent the leases of various offices. Rental contracts for the year ended 31 
December 2020 are typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 3 years (2019: fixed periods of 1 year to 3 years). 
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain similar terms and conditions. The Group has applied 
incremental borrowing rate of 5% (2019: 5%) to the lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (cont'd)

Lease liabilities (cont'd)

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Group, except for short-term leases and low-value assets. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless the approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset 
can only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying assets.

For leases of properties, the Group is required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the 
properties in their original condition at the end of the lease.

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Lease payments
Short-term leases 889 974 

Expenses recognised in profit or loss 889 974 
Lease payments:

Interest on lease liabilities 111 197
Repayment of lease liabilities 2,434 2,673 

Total cash outflow for leases 3,434 3,844 

Commitments under leases

At 31 December 2020, the Group was committed to RMB253,000 (2019: RMB296,000) for short-term leases and 
low value assets (2019: short term leases).
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15. GOODWILL

Total
RMB’000

Costs:
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 19,541

Accumulated impairment:
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 –
Impairment loss (19,541)

At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 (19,541)

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2020 –

At 31 December 2019 –

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to country of operation and operating segment as 
follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Software Business – – 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has engaged an independent valuer to perform an 
appraisal of the value of the CGU in the Software Business. The recoverable amounts were determined from a VIU 
calculation. Based on the valuation prepared by the independent valuer, the recoverable amount was lower than the 
carrying amount of the CGU in the Software Business, an impairment loss of RMB19,541,000 was recognised in 
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.

16. INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Standard hardware and accessories 931 931
Low value consumables 6 6 

937 937 
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Mandatorily measured at FVPL
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 10,236 – 

Note:

The fair value of listed equity securities is based on quoted market prices in active markets at the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a fair value gain on listed equity securities of RMB3,696,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent the end of the reporting period, the Group has disposed of certain listed equity securities for an aggregate cash consideration of 

RMB8,484,000 (approximately HK$10,170,000) and recorded a realised gain of RMB2,311,000 (approximately HK$2,770,000). Details of disposal 

are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 20 January 2021, 21 January 2021 and 26 January 2021 respectively.

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

Contract assets (a) 13,296 16,483
Less: Loss allowance (474) (19) 

12,822 16,464 
Contract liabilities (b) 6,801 1,042 

Notes:

(a) The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract assets from contracts 

with customers within IFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 
At 1 January 16,483 14,521

Transferred to trade receivables (16,483) (14,521)

Recognition as revenue 13,296 16,483 
At 31 December 13,296 16,483 

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s right to consideration for Software Business because the rights are conditional 

upon the Group’s fulfilment of certain future performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become 

unconditional.

The decrease in contract assets in 2020 was the result of the decrease in the provision of maintenance and other services towards the end 

of the year.

At 31 December 2020, the contract assets that are expected to be settled within 12 months are RMB13,296,000 (2019: RMB16,483,000).
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18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont'd)

Notes: (cont'd)

(b) Movements in contract liabilities:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Balance at 1 January 1,042 11,133

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue or  

other income during the year that was included in the contract liabilities  

at the beginning of the year (1,042) (11,133)

Increase in contract liabilities excluding amounts recognised  

as revenue during the year 6,801 1,042 
Balance at 31 December 6,801 1,042 

At 31 December 2020, the contract liabilities that are expected to be settled within 12 months are RMB6,801,000 
(2019: RMB1,042,000).

The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due to increase in advance from customers.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance (a) 18,868 22,866  
Loan receivables from third parties (b) 25,103 23,631
Loan receivables from a related company – 5,275
Less: loss allowance of loan receivables (22,291) (28,906)  
Loan receivables, net of loss allowance (c)-(d) 2,812 –  
Prepayment made to suppliers, net of impairment (e) 32,057 48,651
Deposits and other receivables, net of loss allowance 7,692 19,981  

39,749 68,632  
61,429 91,498 

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd)

Notes:

(a) As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (which are included in trade and other receivables), based on the 

invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Within 1 month 11,059 12,177

Over 1 month but less than 3 months 4,739 8,061

Over 3 months but less than 1 year 3,070 1,957

Over 1 year but less than 2 years – 459

Over 2 years – 212 
18,868 22,866 

Trade receivables are generally due within 90 (2019: 90) days from the date of billing. Further details of the Group’s credit policy are set out in 

note 28(a) to these consolidated financial statements.

(b) At 31 December 2020, (1) loan receivable of RMB2,812,000 was unsecured, carried at fixed interest rate of 10% per annum and within the 

maturity date; and (2) remaining loan receivables of RMB22,291,000 (2019: RMB28,960,000) were unsecured, carried at fixed interest rates 

of ranging from 7% to 12% (2019: 7% to 12%) per annum and overdue. All loan receivables were denominated in HK$.

(c) The maturity profile of the loan receivables and net of allowance at the end of the reporting period, analysed by the remaining periods to their 

contracted maturity is as follow:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Repayable

Within 1 month 2,812 –

Over 1 month but less than 3 months – –

Over 3 months but less than 1 year – – 
2,812 – 

(d) As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of loan receivables (which are included in trade and other receivables), based on 

loan drawn down date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Within 1 month – –

Over 1 month but less than 3 months – –

Over 3 months but less than 1 year 2,812 – 
2,812 – 

Further details of the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 28(a) to these consolidated financial statements.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd)

Notes: (cont'd)

(e) These prepayments are unsecured, interest-free and will be used to offset against future purchases from suppliers.

In respect of prepayments made to suppliers, individual credit evaluations are performed on all suppliers requiring prepayment over a 

certain amount. These evaluations focus on the suppliers’ past history and take into account information specific to the suppliers as well as 

pertaining to the economic environment in which the suppliers operate.

At 31 December 2020, the unutilised prepayments, net of impairment amounted to RMB32,057,000 (2019: RMB48,651,000). The directors 

have reassessed the recoverability of the unutilised prepayment based on all relevant information available to the Group. The directors 

consider that the carrying amounts are not impaired.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each supplier. The default risk of the industry and 

country in which suppliers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of each reporting period, the Group 

has a certain concentrations of credit risk as 32% (2019: 17%) and 48% (2019: 27%) of the total prepayment made to the Group’s largest 

supplier and the five largest suppliers respectively.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) An analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Cash on hand 30 27
Deposits on demand 99,892 64,739 
Cash and bank deposits (note(i)) 99,922 64,766 

Note:

(i) Included in cash and bank deposits were approximately RMB81,493,000 (2019: approximately RMB63,216,000) placed in financial 

institutions in the PRC and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC 

government.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (cont'd)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Lease 
liabilities

Interest-
bearing 

borrowing Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 14) (Note 22)

At 1 January 2019 1,328 28,390 29,718

Change from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from new interest-bearing borrowings – 11,744 11,744
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings – (24,000) (24,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,673) – (2,673)
Interest expenses paid (197) (1,458) (1,655)

Total changes form financing cash flows (2,870) (13,714) (16,584)

Other changes:
Finance costs 197 1,458 1,655
Derecognition due to early termination (322) – (322)
New lease liabilities 4,866 – 4,866
Exchange adjustments – 80 80

Total other changes 4,741 1,538 6,279

At 31 December 2019 3,199 16,214 19,413
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (cont'd)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (cont'd)

Lease 
liabilities

Interest-
bearing 

borrowing Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 14) (Note 22)

At 1 January 2020 3,199 16,214 19,413

Change from financing cash flows:
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings – (5,000) (5,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,434) – (2,434)
Interest expenses paid (111) (1,112) (1,223)

Total changes form financing cash flows (2,545) (6,112) (8,657)

Other changes:
Finance costs 111 1,112 1,223
Derecognition due to early termination (486) – (486)
New lease liabilities 2,129 – 2,129
Exchange adjustments – (1,396) (1,396)

Total other changes 1,754 (284) 1,470

At 31 December 2020 2,408 9,818 12,226

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Trade payables 3,808 17,476
Non-trade payables and accrued expenses 5,064 5,171
Other tax payables 1,232 813 

10,104 23,460 

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont'd)

The credit period of trade payables is normally within 90 (2019: 90) days. As of the end of the reporting period, the 
ageing analysis of trade payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Due within 1 month or on demand 480 7,564
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 3,118 7,669
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 200 2,203
Due after 6 months but within 1 year 10 40 

3,808 17,476 

22. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 

Loan from a third party, unsecured and unguaranteed (a) 4,216 4,470
Loan from a fellow subsidiary, unsecured  

and unguaranteed (b) 5,602 6,744
Banking borrowings, unsecured and guaranteed (c) – 5,000  

9,818 16,214 

Notes:

(a) Loan from a third party, unsecured and unguaranteed

The loan due to an independent third party is denominated in HK$ (2019: HK$), unsecured, carried interest rate of 2% (2019: 9%) per annum 

and is repayable within one year.

(b) Loan from a fellow subsidiary, unsecured and unguaranteed

The loan due to a fellow subsidiary is denominated in HK$ (2019: HK$), unsecured, carried interest rate of 10% (2019: 10%) per annum and 

is repayable within one year.

(c) Banking borrowings, secured and unguaranteed

As at 31 December 2019, the bank borrowings carried interest at the prevailing interest rate of loan prime rate plus 15 – 20 basis points. 

Bank borrowings of RMB3,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary and the remaining bank borrowings of RMB2,000,000 was guaranteed 

by a third party. The bank borrowings were repaid during the year.
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

(a) Deferred tax assets

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
movements during the year are as follows:

Write-down 
of inventory

RMB’000

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 346

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Before multiplied by the applicable tax rates:
Deductible temporary differences 71,786 63,171
Tax losses 56,551 48,061 

At end of the reporting period 128,337 111,232 

No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Deductible 
temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. The expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses 
are as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Tax loss without expiry date 35,025 33,874
Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2024 14,187 14,187
Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2025 7,339 – 

56,551 48,061 

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2020, temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to 
approximately RMB7,003,000 (2019: RMB19,918,000). Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB350,000 
(2019: RMB996,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on the distribution 
of these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been 
determined that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Share capital

2020 2019 
Number 

of shares Amount HK$
Number 

of shares Amount HK$  
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 10,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000,000  
Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 526,508,982 52,650,898 526,508,982 52,650,898
Issue of new shares (note (i)) 105,301,796 10,530,180 – –
Issue of new shares (note (ii)) 126,362,155 12,636,215 – –  
At 31 December 758,172,933 75,817,293 526,508,982 52,650,898  

RMB 
equivalent

RMB 
equivalent

64,904,550 44,711,310 

Notes:

(i) On 4 February 2020, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of 105,301,796 shares at a placing price of HK$0.249 per 

share to not less than six placees for cash. The net proceeds of approximately RMB22,905,000 (equivalent to HK$25,410,000) 

received and approximately RMB1,352,000 (equivalent to HK$1,500,000) was used for repayment of interest-bearing borrowings, 

approximately RMB8,032,000 (equivalent to HK$8,910,000) was used for general working capital of the Group; approximately 

RMB13,521,000 (equivalent to HK$15,000,000) was used as part of deposit payment for a development project. The closing market 

price of the Company’s shares as at the issue date was HK$0.34 per share.

(ii) On 17 November 2020, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of 126,362,155 shares at a placing price of HK$0.168 per 

share to an independent third party for cash. The net proceeds of approximately RMB17,970,000 (equivalent to HK$21,128,000) 

received and approximately RMB4,678,000 (equivalent to HK$5,500,000) was used for loan financing business, approximately 

RMB1,276,000 (equivalent to HK$1,500,000) was used for general working capital of the Group; and the remaining proceeds of 

approximately RMB12,016,000 (equivalent to HK$14,128,000) will be used for general working capital for improvement of the 

Company’s professional technical services capabilities to facilitate the long term business development of the Group, and further 

investments of the Group as and when the opportunities arise.. The closing market price of the Company’s shares as at the issue 

date was HK$0.185 per share.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman 
Islands.

(ii) Other reserve

The application of the other reserve is set up to deal with the changes in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control. The difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised in 
equity.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont'd)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (cont'd)

(iii) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value at the grant date of unexercised share 
options granted to and other share-based payment transactions with employees of the Group and is 
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 1(t) to these consolidated financial 
statements.

(iv) PRC statutory reserve

Transfers from retained profits to general reserve fund were made in accordance with the relevant PRC 
rules and regulations and the articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the 
PRC and were approved by the respective boards of directors.

The general reserve fund can be used to make good previous year’s losses, if any, and may be 
converted into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the general reserve fund after such 
conversion is not less than 25% of the PRC subsidiary’s registered capital.

Each PRC wholly owned subsidiary is required to transfer a minimum of 10% of its net profit, as 
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the general reserve fund 
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. The transfer to this fund must be made 
before distribution of dividends to equity shareholders.

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations as well as the effective portion of any foreign exchange 
differences arising from the hedges of the net investment in their foreign operations. The reserve is dealt 
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(x).

(c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for its shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access 
to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of 
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this 
purpose, the Group defines net debt as interest-bearing borrowings less cash and capital is defined as the 
total equity. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash in excess of interest-bearing borrowings. It is the 
management’s intention to restrict the ratio below 50% in the long run. To achieve this end, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, issue new shares or raise new debts.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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25. SHARE OPTION

(a) Share option scheme

On 26 May 2016, with approval by the shareholders, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the 
“Scheme”) for a period of 10 years to replace the share option scheme approved on 18 December 2006 that 
would otherwise expire on 17 December 2016.

Under the Scheme, the Company may grant options to directors, employees, suppliers, customers, 
consultants, agents and advisers of the Company and the subsidiaries and any person who, in the sole 
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution to 
the Group. The options will expire either after 10 years from the date of grant or upon the termination or the 
issuance of termination notice of the relevant grantee’s employment with the Group. The maximum number 
of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total 
number of shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme 
and any other share option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in 
issue at the date of the passing of the relevant ordinary resolution. If any option is to be granted to connected 
person(s), it must be approved by independent non-executive directors or independent shareholders as the 
case may be.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted to a specifically identified 
single grantee under the Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month 
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Under the Scheme, the options granted may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the date of 
such offer. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option. The exercise 
period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors of the Company and ends on a date 
which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options. The subscription price for shares 
payable on exercise of share options granted under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the directors 
of the Company, but shall in any event not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a 
trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value 
of share.

The options granted prior to and remaining outstanding at termination, if any, shall continue to be valid and 
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Scheme.
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25. SHARE OPTION (cont'd)

(b) Movement in share option granted:

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by directors and employees of 
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020:

Name of category 
of participant Date of grant Exercise price

Outstanding 
at 1 January 

2020

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
at 31 December 

2020

The closing 
price of the 
Company’s 

shares quoted 
on the Stock 

Exchange 
immediately 

before the 
date of grant

HK$ HK$

Directors in aggregate 1 September  
2020

0.2122 – 6,500,000 – – 6,500,000 0.201

Employees in aggregate 1 September  
2020

0.2122 – 31,750,000 – – 31,750,000 0.201

– 38,250,000 – – 38,250,000

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) – 0.2122 – – 0.2122

No share option has been granted under the share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019.

No share options were exercised for the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020, all share 
options were exercisable.
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25. SHARE OPTION (cont'd)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted is measured at the date of grant, using the binomial option pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions of the share-based arrangement The fair value calculated 
is inherently subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the limitations of the model used. The 
inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date

Fair 

value at 

grant date

The closing 

price of 

the 

Company’s 

shares 

quoted on 

the Stock 

Exchange  

at grant 

date

Exercise 

Price

Risk-free 

interest rate

Expected 

Volatility

Expected 

life

Expected 

dividend 

yield

HK$ HK$ HK$ 

per share 

option

per share per share

1 September 2020 0.081 0.200 0.2122 0.60% 89.57% 10 years N/A

Estimation of the value of the share options is subjective and uncertain as such values are subject to a 
number of assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the model. The expected volatility is based 
on the historical volatility reflecting the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. All significant features necessary to be considered 
for the measurement of fair values of the share options granted in the year were incorporated into such 
measurement.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the fair value of equity-settled share-based payment in respect of 
the Scheme of RMB2,760,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss.

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate in basic defined 
contribution retirement schemes organised by the respective municipal governments under which they are 
governed. The contribution rates of the PRC subsidiaries employees administered by various municipal 
governments are ranged from 8% to 12% (2019: 14% to 18%).

All employees are entitled to retirement benefits equal to a fixed proportion of their salaries and benefits in kind 
prevailing at their normal retirement ages.



114 Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (cont'd)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong 
Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent 
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to 
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. 
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of retirement benefits associated with this scheme 
beyond the contributions described above.

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party transactions

2020 2019
Related party relationship Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000 
A fellow subsidiary Loan interest expenses 528 244 
A related company^ Loan interest income (189) – 

^ The related company was controlled by the controlling shareholder.

(b) Remuneration to key management personnel

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Short-term employee benefits 5,766 5,910
Post-employment benefits 239 329
Equity-settled share-based payment 1,379 – 

7,384 6,239 

The remuneration to key management personnel includes directors whose remuneration is detailed in note 7 
to these consolidated financial statements.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, foreign currency and equity price risks arises in the normal course of the 
Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to those risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to 
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligation. The Group’s credit 
risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, contract assets and cash and cash equivalents. 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an on-
going basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

It is expected that there is no significant credit risk associated with the cash and cash equivalents as they are 
placed with major banks which are located in the PRC and Hong Kong, which the management believes are 
of high credit quality.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidation statement of financial position after deducting any 
impairment allowance. The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit 
risk.

Trade and other receivables and contract assets

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on 
all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history 
of making payments when due and current ability to pay and take into account information specific to the 
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Customers 
of Software Business are usually required to settle the payment based on the agreed schedule in according 
to the sales contract. Customers with balances overdue are normally requested to settle all outstanding 
balances before further service is provided. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from its customers.

The Group measures loss allowances on trade and other receivables and contract assets at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience 
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance 
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past years. These rates are adjusted to 
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been 
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 
receivables.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade and other receivables and contract assets (cont'd)

Trade receivables

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
Allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000   
As at 31 December 2020
Current (not past due) 2.69 15,299 412
Less than 3 months past due 38.88 4,930 1,917
Over 3 months to 1 year past due 53.97 2,103 1,135
Over 1 year to 2 years past due 100.00 1,560 1,560
Over 2 years past due 100.00 872 872   

24,764 5,896   
As at 31 December 2019
Current (not past due) 1.80 20,698 372
Less than 3 months past due 11.66 1,801 210
Over 3 months to 1 year past due 18.60 817 152
Over 1 year to 2 years past due 46.62 532 248
Over 2 years past due 100.00 1,043 1,043

24,891 2,025

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

At 1 January 2,025 1,451
Provision for loss allowance 3,871 574 
At 31 December 5,896 2,025 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has recognised an allowance for credit losses on trade receivables 
amounted to approximately RMB5,896,000 (2019: approximately RMB2,025,000), of which approximately 
RMB3,871,000 (2019: approximately RMB574,000) were collectively determined to be impaired under ECLs 
during the year.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade and other receivables and contract assets (cont'd)

Loan receivables

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of loan receivables during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

At 1 January 28,906 8,795
Exchange adjustments (1,367) 446
(Reversal of) Provision for loss allowance (5,248) 19,665 
At 31 December 22,291 28,906 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has recognised an allowance for credit losses on loan receivables 
amounted to approximately RMB22,291,000 (2019: approximately RMB28,906,000) of which approximately 
RMB22,291,000 (2019: approximately RMB11,920,000) was determined as credit impaired.

Contract assets

The movement in the loss allowance of contract assets during the year is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

At 1 January 19 134
Provision for (Reversal of) loss allowance 455 (115) 
At 31 December 474 19 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has recognised an allowance for credit losses on contract assets 
amounted to approximately RMB474,000 (2019: approximately RMB19,000), of which approximately 
RMB455,000 was impaired (2019: approximately RMB115,000 was reversed) during the year.

An analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on 
those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same customer 
bases.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade and other receivables and contract assets (cont'd)

Deposits and other receivables

The movement in the loss allowance account in respect of deposits and other receivables during the year is 
as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

At 1 January 14,049 10,827
Provision for loss allowance 2,076 3,222 
At 31 December 16,125 14,049 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has recognised an allowance for credit losses on deposits and other 
receivables amounted to approximately RMB16,125,000 (2019: approximately RMB14,049,000) of which 
approximately RMB2,076,000 (2019: approximately RMB3,222,000) were individually determined to be 
impaired under ECLs during the year.



119Enterprise Development Holdings Limited　Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk

The individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the 
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject 
to approval by the parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of 
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of 
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at end of the reporting period, based 
on contractual discounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if 
floating, based on rates at end of the reporting period) are summarised below:

Carrying 
Amount

Contractual 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Within 1 year 

or on demand

More than 
1 year but less 

than 2 years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

As at 31 December 2020
Non-derivative financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 9,818 10,464 10,464 –
Lease liabilities 2,408 2,495 1,715 780
Trade and other payables 7,796 7,796 7,796 –    

20,022 20,755 19,975 780     

Carrying 
Amount

Contractual 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Within 1 year 

or on demand

More than 
1 year but less 

than 2 years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2019
Non-derivative financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 16,214 17,518 17,518 –
Lease liabilities 3,199 3,319 2,471 848
Trade and other payables 21,736 21,736 21,736 –

41,149 42,573 41,725 848
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate, loan receivables with fixed interest rate, the Group has 
no other significant interest-bearing assets. Management does not anticipate significant impact to interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates of bank balances are not 
expected to change significantly.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, loan receivables and interest-
bearing borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates which expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

(i) Interest rate profile

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments at the end of each reporting 
period is as follows:

2020 2019 
Effective 
weighted 

average
 interest rates 

% (annual) RMB’000

Effective 
weighted 
average 

interest rates 
% (annual) RMB’000  

Fixed rate instruments
Interest-bearing borrowings 6.56 (9,818) 9.60 (11,214)

Variable rate instruments
Interest-bearing borrowings – – 4.53 (5,000)
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(c) Interest rate risk (cont'd)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk 
is minimal taking into account no variable interest-bearing borrowing as at 31 December 2020. 
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk is presented.

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s loss before 
taxation and accumulated losses by approximately RMB39,500. Other components of consolidated 
equity would not be affected by changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before taxation 
and accumulated losses that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 
end of each reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by 
the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of each reporting period.

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s monetary assets and 
liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the directors consider the Group’s exposure to foreign 
currency risk is not significant. The Group does not employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from financial assets at FVPL. The sensitivity analysis has 
been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk.

At end of the reporting period, if the fair value had been 36% higher or lower while all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s net loss before taxation would decrease or increase by RMB3,682,000 as a result 
of changes in fair value of investments. The Group’s sensitivity to equity price has changed significantly during 
the year mainly due to more volatile price fluctuation.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the equity 
prices or other relevant risk variables had occurred at end of the reporting period and had been applied to the 
exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s 
investments would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the equity prices or the relevant 
risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes represent management’s 
assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant equity price or the relevant risk variables over the 
period until the end of the next annual reporting period.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent equity 
price risk because the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the 
year.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end 
of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as 
defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified 
is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation 
technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to 
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available.

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

(a) Assets measured at fair value

31 December 
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets  
at FVPL

– Listed equity securities 10,236 10,236 – –

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any financial assets and liabilities that were 
measured fair value.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there was no transfer between Level 1 and 
Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfer into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at amortised cost are not 
materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

(g) Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at each of the reporting date are as 
follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 

Financial assets
– Financial assets measured at amortised cost 127,775 108,435

Financial liabilities
– Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 21,016 42,060

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, a summary of events transacted after 
end of reporting period is set out below:

Proposed rights issue

The Company proposed to implement a rights issue on the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares 
of the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.12 per rights share, to raise up to approximately HK$46,200,000 
after deducting expenses. Details of rights issue is set out in the announcements of the Company dated 19 
February 2021 and 24 March 2021.

As at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the rights issue has not yet been completed.
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30. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

(a) Company-level statement of financial position

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 11 11
Due from subsidiaries 30(c) 63,605 92,036 

63,616 92,047 
Current assets
Due from subsidiaries 30(d) 35,503 24,740
Deposits and other receivables 169 211
Bank balances and cash 621 613 

36,293 25,564 
Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued expenses 2,433 2,051
Interest-bearing borrowings 4,216 4,470 

6,649 6,521 
Net current assets 29,644 19,043 
Total assets less current liabilities 93,260 111,090 
Non-current liability
Due to subsidiaries 1 148 
NET ASSETS 93,259 110,942 
Equity and reserves
Share capital 24(a) 64,905 44,711
Reserves 30(b) 28,354 66,231 
TOTAL EQUITY 93,259 110,942 

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 
March 2021 and signed on its behalf by

Guan Huanfei Mao Junjie
Director Director
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30. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES (cont'd)

(b) Company-level reserves

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of reserves between the beginning and the 
end of the year are set out below:

Share 

premium

Exchange 

reserve

Share-based 

payment 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at and 1 January 2019 530,446 30,801 – (450,026) 111,221

Loss for the year – – – (47,151) (47,151)

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange difference on translation of 
financial statements – 2,161 – – 2,161

Total comprehensive income (loss) for  

the year – 2,161 – (47,151) (44,990)

Balance at 31 December 2019  

and 1 January 2020 530,446 32,962 – (497,177) 66,231

Loss for the year – – – (56,253) (56,253)

Other comprehensive loss:

Exchange difference on translation  
of financial statements – (5,065) – – (5,065)     

Total comprehensive loss for the year – (5,065) – (56,253) (61,318)     
Transactions with owners:

Contributions and distributions:
Issue of new shares, net of expenses 

(note 24(a)(i)) 13,413 – – – 13,413

Issue of new shares, net of expenses 

(note 24(a)(ii)) 7,268 – – – 7,268

Equity-settled share-based  

payments (note 25) – – 2,760 – 2,760     
Total transactions with owners 20,681 – 2,760 – 23,441     
Balance at 31 December 2020 551,127 27,897 2,760 (553,430) 28,354

(c) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and the settlement of which is neither 
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

(d) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demands.
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31. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued a few amendments and 
new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted 
in the consolidated financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1

Amendments to IAS 39, IFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 2

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use 3

Amendments to IAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 3

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 3

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle 3

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or non-Current 4

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 4

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 4

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 4

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  
and its Associate or Joint Venture 5

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
5 The effective date to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised IFRSs in future periods will have any material 
impact on the results of the Group.
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